
Page 1 of 2 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, MAY 12, 2021 

5:30 PM AT CITY HALL AND VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE 

 

 
 
The meeting will also be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the meeting in 
the following ways: 

a) By dialing the phone number +1 312 626 6799  or +1 929 205 6099  or +1 301 715 8592  or +1 346 248 
7799  or +1 669 900 6833  or +1 253 215 8782 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 886 
2008 9534. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,88620089534#  or +19292056099,,88620089534# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88620089534.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 

Call to Order and Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes of April 28, 2021 

Public Comments 

Old Business 

2. Amendment of Master plan for Autumn Ridge Development (10th Addition) 
Location: South of Thresher Court and West of Autumn Lane 
Applicant: BKND, Inc., Owner; CGA Engineering, Engineer 
Previous discussion: November 24, 2020 
Recommendation: Discuss and recommend approval of this partial update to the Master Plan 
P&Z Action: Review and consider making a recommendation to City Council 

3. Preliminary Plat and Final Plat for Autumn Ridge 10th Addition 
Location: South of Thresher Court and West of Autumn Lane 
Applicant: BKND, Inc., Owner; CGA Engineering, Engineer 
Previous discussion: November 24, 2020 (Preliminary Plat)  
Recommendation: Discuss and recommend approval 
P&Z Action: Review and consider making a recommendation to City Council 

4. Zoning Code Text Amendments – Downtown Character District Regulations  
Proposal: New zoning regulations and Regulating Plan for the Downtown Character District 
Previous discussion: February 17 (draft presented); February 24, March 3, March 10, March 
17(work sessions); March 24 (set public hearing); April 14 and April 28 (public hearings, 
consideration of amendments) 
Recommendation: Recommend approval 
P&Z Action: Recommend approval  

5. Rezoning of property in the proposed Downtown Character District (Case #RZ21-004) 
Proposal: Rezone all property within the proposed Downtown Character District to CD-DT 
(Downtown Character District).  
Previous discussion: April 28 
Recommendation: Hear any additional input from the public, close the hearing, and make a 

1



Page 2 of 2 

recommendation.  
P&Z Action: Hear any additional input from the public, close the hearing, and make a 

recommendation. 

New Business - None 

Commission Updates 

Adjournment 

Reminders: 

* May 26 and June 9 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings 
* May 17and June 7 - City Council Meetings 

2



 1 

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 
Regular Meeting 

April 28, 2021 
City Hall and via videoconference  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

MINUTES 
 

The Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission met in regular session on April 28, 
2021 at 5:30 p.m. at City Hall and via videoconference due to precautions necessary to 
prevent the spread of the COVID-19 virus. The following Commission members were 
present: Hartley, Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, and Schrad. Sears was 
absent. Karen Howard, Community Services Manager, Jaydevsinh Atodaria, Planner I 
and Chris Sevy, Planner I, were also present.  
 
1.) Chair Leeper noted the Minutes from the April 14, 2021 regular meeting and 

March 17 special meeting minutes are presented. Mr. Holst made a motion to 
approve the Minutes as presented. Ms. Saul seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, 
Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays.  

 
2.) The first item of business was a Central Business District Overlay Site Plan 

review for a new mixed use building at 7th and Main Streets. Chair Leeper 
introduced the item and noted that the applicant would like to defer the item.  

 
 Mr. Schrad made a motion to defer the item. Ms. Prideaux seconded the motion. 

The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 
3.) The next item for consideration by the Commission was a minor subdivision plat 

for Lot 2 of Blain’s Corner 2nd Addition at 219 Brandilynn Boulevard. Chair Leeper 
introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background information. He 
explained that this is the second time the item has been brought before the 
Commission and briefly re-capped the information previously discussed. Staff 
recommends approval of the item. 

  
 Mr. Holst made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Lynch seconded the motion. 

The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 
4.) The Commission then considered a HWY-1 site plan for Aldi’s grocery store at 

219 Brandilynn Boulevard. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria 
provided background information, noting that this item was also discussed at the 
last meeting. He gave a brief re-cap of the project and noted that staff 
recommends approval of the site plan. 

 

3

Item 1.



 2 

 Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Lynch seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 
5.) The next item of business was amendments to the zoning code text with regard 

to the Downtown Character District Regulations. Chair Leeper introduced the 
item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She noted that there are 
no additional requests received for amendments to the draft from what was 
discussed at the last meeting.  

 
 Mr. Hartley requested more discussion about the parking requirements that are in 

the draft code.  Ms. Howard provided an overview of what was proposed for 
parking requirements in the code, noting the different between the Urban General 
Frontages and in the Neighborhood Frontages. She explained the requirements 
for each area and discussed shared parking. The Commission discussed 
generally and confirmed that they were in agreement that the parking 
requirements that are proposed are where they should be for the downtown area. 
As there was no additional public comment, Mr. Leeper closed the public 
hearing. Ms. Howard briefly explained the next steps in the approval process. 

 
6.)  The next item for consideration by the Commission was rezoning of property in 

the proposed Downtown Character District. Chair Leeper introduced the matter 
and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained that mailed 
notice of the rezoning was sent out to all property owners in the rezoning area 
and notice of the public hearing was also published in the Courier. The item is for 
initial discussion at this time and will be continued to the next meeting.  

 
7.) The Commission then considered a HWY-1 site plan for property located at 315 

Viking Plaza Drive. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided 
background information. He explained that the request is to build a new Scooter’s 
Coffee shop with a drive-thru on the southeast corner of Viking Road and 
Andrea. He outlined the general features of the site plan, landscaping, building 
design, and signage.  

 
Since the proposal meets all zoning requirements and the design is consistent 
with neighboring buildings staff recommended approval of the site plan. 

 
Mr. Schrad motioned to approve the site plan. Mr. Larson seconded the motion. 
There was little discussion, but members of the commission generally expressed 
approval of the site plan and the proposed use. 

 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 
8.) The next item of business was a Central Business District Overlay Design 

Review for Taylor Vet Clinic at 315 State Street. Chair Leeper introduced the 
item and Mr. Atodaria explained the proposal for updating the façade and altering 

4

Item 1.



 3 

the roofline for the Taylor Vet Clinic. He discussed how the proposal is to give a 
makeover to the existing building, creating a more modern and commercial look. 
The applicant will continue operating as Taylor Vet Clinic. Mr. Atodaria discussed 
the exceptions to the code requirements the applicant is requesting.  

 
City staff is supportive of the requested exceptions as the original building was a 
house and was not designed as a storefront building. Mr. Atodaria noted that 
separate sign permits will have to be pulled to update the exterior signage on the 
building. He stated that the proposal meets the zoning ordinance requirements, 
provided the Commission approves of the exceptions and believes that the 
project will allow the applicant to update the façade of the building, blending well 
with site context. He noted that staff recommends approval of the submitted 
design review application. 

 
Ms. Saul stated that the proposal looks like a nice improvement to the façade. 
Commission members expressed no concerns to the proposed item and agreed 
that the exceptions are warranted. Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the item. 
Mr. Holst seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 
ayes (Holst, Hartley, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, and Schrad), and 0 
nays. 

  
9.) As there were no further comments, Ms. Lynch made a motion to adjourn. Mr. 

Holst seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes 
(Holst, Hartley, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 
The meeting adjourned at 6:12 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Karen Howard       Joanne Goodrich  
Community Services Manager    Administrative Assistant 
 

5

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I 

 DATE: May 4, 2021 

 SUBJECT: The Autumn Ridge Master Plan Amendment 
 

 
REQUEST: Request to approve revised Autumn Ridge Master Plan  

 
PETITIONER: BKND, Inc., Owner; CGA Engineering, Engineer 

 
LOCATION: 
 

West of Union Road and south of W. 1st Street 

 
PROPOSAL 
It is proposed to amend the RP master plan for the Autumn Ridge development, which was 
originally approved in 2001.  The proposed change includes minor revision from the previously 
updated Site Plan for Lot 3 Autumn Ridge 2nd Addition in 2005 with 50 units to 53 units 
distributed over 9 lots, thus slightly increasing the density of the area. In addition, as there have 
been several smaller changes over the years to the RP Plan, it is important to update the master 
plan for the entire development, so that it reflects changes made in previously platted areas, 
including the unplatted area proposed as Autumn Ridge 10th Addition, which will add 6 condo 
buildings, just north of Autumn Ridge 2nd Addition. 
 
BACKGROUND 
BKND, Inc. is proposing the next phase of the Autumn Ridge development with an amendment 
to the master plan. Autumn Ridge subdivision along Union Road has developed over the past 
20 years beginning with a series of retirement condos and patio homes along Autumn Ridge 
Road coupled with an expansion of single-family dwellings along Paddington Drive, Berry Hill 
Road, and Shocker Road. A recent expansion in the Autumn Ridge Subdivision includes some 
single-family dwellings and duplexes along Thresher Court. In total, the entire Autumn Ridge 
development consists of approximately 105 acres of land reserved for a mixture of residential 
homes from single-family dwelling units, retirement units, and condominiums.  
 
In 2005, the owner submitted an RP Plan amendment for Lot 3 of Autumn Ridge 2nd addition to 
updating the previously approved 22 unit senior condominium facility with 2 six-plex buildings 
and a five-plex building. At that time, a concept of similar continuation of 6 six-plexes on the 
area north of Lot 3 was presented which was to be done in the future. But it was noted that the 
area north will have to be platted prior to building anything in the future. With this application, the 

6

Item 2.



developer has submitted a preliminary and final plat for Autumn Ridge 10th Addition, which 
includes the addition of 6 six-plexes, just north of Autumn Ridge 2nd addition (Same area as 
before). The RP master plan and the developmental procedures agreement must be updated to 
reflect these proposed changes, before approval of the new preliminary and final plat for 
Autumn Ridge 10th Additions.  
 
For any proposed development that is not consistent with the approved RP master plan, an 
amendment is required to be approved by Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. 
The proposed new master plan possesses minor changes from the previously approved master 
plan in terms of density of residential units, common public space/amenities and street 
connections. Therefore, both the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council must first 
review and approve the revised RP master plan prior to the approval of the preliminary plat and 
final plat for Autumn Ridge 10th Addition located in the southern part of the Autumn Ridge 
development. 
 
City staff notes that the proposed master plan was reviewed at a regular scheduled meeting on 
24th November 2020 along with the new proposed 9th Addition. However, at this time applicant 
only wishes to continue forward with an update to the master plan for Autumn Ridge 10th 
Addition, therefore a new master plan exhibit has been attached in the packet for review.   
 
ZONING 
The purpose of the R-P Planned Residence District is to permit the establishment of multi-use 
and integrated use residential developments and to provide for the orderly planned growth of 
residential developments in larger tracts of land. The RP District allows flexibility in the types of 
dwellings, lot sizes, building heights, and setbacks. However, to ensure that the area is 
developed in an orderly manner, provides for efficient traffic circulation between neighborhoods, 
and includes the necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of the future residents, a master 
plan must be submitted with the rezoning, which is adopted through a  developmental 
procedures agreement.  
 
The entire Autumn Ridge development is about 105 acres and was rezoned to R-P, Planned 
Residential District from A-1, Agricultural Zoning District in 2001. As part of that rezoning, an RP 
master plan (shown below) along with a developmental procedures agreement was approved 
for the entire development area. The original master plan illustrates a mix of housing types, a 
proposed layout for the streets, and a 3 to 5-acre lake which would serve as both a stormwater 
retention/detention facility for much of the 105-acre development and as shared community 
space and trails around the perimeter of the lake. These various elements were also identified in 
the developmental procedures agreement.  
 
 
 

7

Item 2.



 
 
 
Over the past 20 years, Autumn Ridge has been developed in many phases with increasing 
density in some areas and reductions in others, altering street connections and changing the 
types of housing as per the developer’s market strategy. There were amendments to the RP 
Plan in 2005 and 2006 to reflect changes south of the east-west drainage way (Autumn Ridge 
2nd, 3rd, and 4th Additions). The illustration below particularly highlights the Autumn Ridge 2nd 
Addition and its RP Plan Amendment for Lot 3 to include 9 buildings, 50 units instead of 
originally proposed 22 unit senior condominiums. Over the years, other significant variations 
from the original plan include the elimination of the street connection across the drainage way 
and changes to the housing types and locations. 

Original 2001 RP Master Plan for Autumn Ridge 

Original RP Master Plan for Autumn Ridge RP Master Plan Amendment for Lot 3, Autumn 

Ridge 2
nd

 Addition  

8

Item 2.



 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
The Master Plan exhibit submitted with the application highlights the proposed 10th addition in 
the subdivision in context with the rest of the development in Autumn Ridge. The updated RP 
master plan proposed by the developer is described below, with areas of change from the 
original plan highlighted and staff recommendations noted.  
 
 

 
Autumn Ridge 10th Addition: 
This subdivision is located just west of Autumn Lane and is accessed from Union Road from 
Thresher Court in the north and Autumn Ridge Road in the south. The proposed addition is a 
continuation of six plexes that are built just south of the proposed subdivision. The addition is 
planned with 6 lots in two phases with one 6-plex per lot. Access to the units will be from private 
drives, which will be extended westward from Autumn Lane. The private streets will not be 
connecting with any abutting street northward or southward. The proposal aligns with the RP 
plan amendment approved in 2005 with a marginal increase in density, which illustrated the six-
plexes in place of the original proposal of independent living units, and will be a further 
continuation of the same in two phases once platted for development.  

 

Proposed Autumn Ridge 10th Addition 

Phase No. of Lots No. of Townhomes 

One  3 18 

Two 3 18 

Total 6 36 

 
 
 

Proposed Revised RP Master Plan for Autumn 

Ridge 

9

Item 2.



Sidewalk Connections 

Over 20 years of time, there have been many changes in the subdivision. Street connectivity is 
important to provide good access to properties, distribute traffic and reduce congestion and 
emergency response times, and provide opportunities for future development on abutting 
properties. In addition, establishing pedestrian connections throughout neighborhoods promotes 
walkability and safe passage for pedestrians.  

 
With the proposal, the developer will be adding the public sidewalk along the west side of 
Autumn Lane, thus bridging the pedestrian connection gap between Autumn Ridge 2nd Addition 
on the south to Autumn Ridge 7th addition on the north. The same has been shown on the 
preliminary plat and mentioned under the public improvement section in the deed of dedication. 
City Staff notes the importance of following through on the commitment to install sidewalks as 
lots are developed to ensure better livability of the community.  

 
As per City Code Section 20.5 – C-(10) and section 20.5 – C-(11), public sidewalks shall be 
installed at the time of new building construction on new or recently platted lots or within five 
years following final subdivision approval. The deed of dedication with the subdivision notes the 
same as well. City staff notes that the public sidewalks should be installed by the developer to 
continue allowing connected pedestrian movement across the subdivision to ensure walkability 
throughout the subdivision. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department has reviewed the proposed master plan and 
recommends approval of the proposed RP Master Plan to include Autumn Ridge 10th Addition 
with the following stipulation: 
 

1. Any comments or direction specified by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
2. Conformance with all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
05/12/2021 

 

 

10

Item 2.



Pheasant
Ridge Golf

Course

Wynnewood Dr

Pheasant Dr

Berry Hill Rd

Paddington Dr

Thresher Ct

Shocker Rd

Autumn Ridge Rd

Cor duro yD r
Fieldston e Blvd

Go
lde

n L
n

Au
tum

n L
n

San
dahlwoodCir

Harvest Ln

N U
nio

n R
d

Un
ion

 Rd

W 1st St®¬57µ40 C-1

R-1

R-1SU

RP

A-1

A-1

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
May 12, 2021

Master Plan Amendment for Autumn
Ridge Subdivision

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

11

Item 2.



W
W

W
W

W W W W

W
W

W
W

W W W W

W
W

W
W

W W W W

W
W

W
W

W W W W

W
W

W
W

W W W W

OH EOH EOH EOH EOH EOH EOH E

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

78
6\

dw
gs

\E
xh

ib
its

\5
78

6 
- M

as
te

r P
la

n 
20

21
-0

4-
09

_1
0t

h 
Ad

di
tio

n.
dw

g 
- P

re
lim

 P
la

t 2
 o

f 5
 - 

 0
4-

14
-2

1 
- 8

:1
8a

m
 - 

AC
D2

76

CGA AUTUMN RIDGE  TENTH ADDITION
1 OF 1

5786

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA MASTER PLAN
ACD

ACD

ACD 04-09-21

04-09-21

04-09-21

MASTER PLAN - AUTUMN RIDGE  10th ADDITION
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

200'100' 300'

PHASE LOTS UNITS

1 3 18

2 3 18

TOTAL 6 36

AUTUMN RIDGE 10TH LEGEND

AUTUMN RIDGE 10TH

CONDOMINIUM LOT = 6

12

Item 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNION RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
THRESHER CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN RIDGE RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOCKER RD



13

Item 2.



14

Item 2.



15

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I 

  Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: May 5, 2021 

 SUBJECT: The Autumn Ridge 10th Addition Preliminary Plat and Final Plat 
 

 
REQUEST: Request to approve Autumn Ridge 10th Addition Preliminary and Final Plat  

 
PETITIONER: BKND, Inc., Owner; CGA Engineering, Engineer 

 
LOCATION: 
 

The property is located west of Autumn Lane in Autumn Ridge Subdivision 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes a preliminary plat for Autumn Ridge 10th Addition, which will include lots 
intended for 6 six-plexes along Autumn Lane in the Autumn Ridge development. The proposed 
subdivision includes the development of six plexes in two phases and it would be similar to the 
six-plexes which are already existing, just south of the proposed subdivision.  
 
City staff notes that the case was already presented at the regular scheduled Planning and 
Zoning Meeting on 24th November 2020 along with the newly proposed Autumn Ridge 9th 
Addition and RP Master Plan Amendment for the entire subdivision. At this time, the applicant 
wishes to move forward with the Autumn Ridge 10th Addition and if approved would likely start 
the construction of the proposed 10th Addition. Attachments in the packet include both 
preliminary and final plat documents along with all the required legal paper work to process the 
cases.  
 
BACKGROUND 
BKND, Inc. is proposing the next phase of the Autumn Ridge development with an amendment 
to the master plan. Autumn Ridge subdivision along Union Road has developed over the past 
20 years beginning with a series of retirement condos and patio homes along the Autumn Ridge 
Road coupled with an expansion of single-family dwellings along Paddington Drive, Berry Hill 
Road, and Shocker Road. A recent expansion in the Autumn Ridge Subdivision includes some 
single-family dwellings and duplex along Thresher Court. In total, the entire Autumn Ridge 
development consists of approximately 105 acres of land reserved for a mixture of residential 
homes from single-family dwelling units, retirement units, and condominiums. In 2013, the 
owner submitted and got the approval of a preliminary plat for the majority of the remaining area 

16

Item 3.



of the development. However, there was no Master Plan amendment done at the time. At 
present, the developer proposes to update the RP Master Plan and proposes a new preliminary 
plat for Autumn Ridge 10th Addition in concert with the revised master plan.  
 
Before approval of this preliminary and final plat, a Master Plan amendment is required to be 
approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council as it is one of the requisite 
items with R-P, Planned Residential Zone, and the development of the subdivision is per the 
approved Master plan. Therefore, both Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council must 
first review and approve the master plan before the review of the preliminary plat for the 
proposed Autumn Ridge 10th Addition. 
 
ZONING 
The proposed subdivision plat includes 6 lots on 5.41(approx.) acres of land which will be 
accessed with two private drives from Autumn Lane. The property is zoned RP, Planned 
Residential which permits a variety of uses subject to an approved master development plan. In 
this case, there was an RP Plan amendment approved in 2006 to include the six-plexes in place 
of the proposed senior living facility. As described in the staff report for the updated RP Master 
Plan for Autumn Ridge, the new master plan illustrates the proposed concept for the 6-plexes in 
Autumn Ridge 10th Addition.  
 
The purpose of the R-P Planned Residence District is to permit the establishment of multi-use 
and integrated use residential developments and to provide for the orderly planned growth of 
residential developments in larger tracts of land. The RP District allows flexibility in the types of 
dwellings, lot sizes, building heights, and setbacks. However, to ensure that the area is 
developed in an orderly manner, provides for efficient traffic circulation between neighborhoods, 
and includes the necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of the future residents, a master 
plan must be submitted with the rezoning, which is adopted through a  developmental 
procedures agreement. It is also intended that such planned residence districts be designed 
and developed in substantial conformity with the standards of the comprehensive plan and 
with recognized principles of civic design, land use planning, and landscape architecture.  
 
A 35-foot building setback will be continued around the “perimeter” of the RP district in this area. 
Lots 2 and 5 are located on the perimeter of the RP Zoning district; therefore a 35-foot rear yard 
setback is shown on the plat. The deed of dedication, developmental procedures agreement, 
along with a new revised Master plan and preliminary plat will outline the minimum building 
setback standards. City staff notes that the proposed lots appear to be of sufficient lot width and 
lot area to satisfy the RP district requirements. 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
Development of the proposed Autumn Ridge 10th Addition will proceed from south to north and 
will be located just west of Autumn Lane. The proposed addition will be accessed from Autumn 
Ridge Road on the south end and Thresher Court on the north end. 
 
The developer proposes thirty-six (36) townhomes in the form of 6, six-plexes. The developer’s 
request aligns with the latest updated “Master Plan” (if approved) and the proposal will not lead 
to any new density in the subdivision. Two phases of development are proposed with three six-
plexes in each phase. Units will be accessed from private drives that extend from Autumn Lane.  
 
 
 

17

Item 3.



Phase No. of Lots No. of Townhomes 

One  3 18 

Two 3 18 

Total 6 36 

 
City Staff notes that a public sidewalk will be required along the west side of Autumn Lane that 
will bridge the gap between existing sidewalks. In response, the applicant shows the proposed 
sidewalk along the west side of Autumn Lane in the preliminary plat, and also same has been 
noted under the “Public Improvement” section in the deed of dedication (Attached for review). 
 
Details of the proposed lots for the six-plexes: 
 
Setbacks:  
As per the R-P, Planned Residential District, there are no minimum yard or height requirements 
except that the minimum yards, as specified in the R-4 residence district shall be provided 
around the boundaries of the planned residence district. The developer plans to continue the 35 
feet perimeter setback as per the original approved plan for the lots located along the perimeter 
line of the subdivision. In addition, the developer proposes the following minimum setbacks for 
the development of six-plexes. 
 
Minimum Front Yard setback = 20 feet 
Minimum Side Yard setback = 8 feet 
Minimum Rear Yard setback = 35 feet 
 
City staff finds that the setbacks will be appropriate for the development of proposed six-plexes 
on the lots. City staff notes that the proposed setbacks should be mentioned in the deed of 
dedication. 
 
Lot size 
The proposed lot size varies from 0.88 acres to 0.94 acres in area. City staff notes that there are 
no details on the configuration of a multi-unit dwelling proposed by the developer. But the 
applicant indicates that the proposal will be similar to the existing six-plexes, just south of the 
proposed area.  
 
Public Sidewalks: 
A public sidewalk will be required along Autumn Lane along the frontage of the six-plex lots. 
Sidewalks must be continuous and connect to other sidewalks in the larger subdivision.  
 
Utilities: 
The proposed subdivision will be accessed with private drives and will be extending the utility 
lines from the adjacent existing development of the Autumn Ridge subdivision. 
 
The developer has designated areas within the proposed lots for the private drive rights-of-way, 
utility easements, and drainage easements that will define the developable area of the lots 
intended for the six-plex buildings.  
 
Notification of neighboring property owners: 
City Staff sent courtesy notices to the surrounding property owners on 17th November 2020. And 
the city staff also sent out another courtesy notice to the surrounding property owners on 30th 

18

Item 3.



April 2021. The applicant has submitted a deed of dedication for the subdivision, which has 
been attached with the packet for reference.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
 
Utilities - City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, noted that the water, 
electric, gas and communication services are available to the site. The developer is responsible for 
the construction of a properly sized water system from the existing 8” water main on the west side 
of Autumn Lane and the private water main south of Autumn Ridge 10th. Included in the 
installation are valves, fire hydrants and water service stubs for the new lots. Water main sizing 
and fire hydrant and valve placement locations will need to be finalized during water construction 
plan review. The developer is responsible for the cost of the streetlights required for any City 
streets. See attached Developer Information Sheet for detailed information regarding utility 
installations. The easements identified on the plat satisfy CFU requirements. 
 
Stormwater Management – The petitioner’s engineer has submitted a stormwater management 
plan to the City and it has been reviewed by the City Engineer. The City Engineer has 
determined that the plan meets the City’s subdivision requirements and also finds that the 
design will improve the drainage pattern that has developed over the years on this undeveloped 
parcel of land. Following is a summary of the proposed stormwater management system for the 
new subdivision. 
 
A regional detention facility was constructed as a part of Autumn Ridge 6th addition. The 
stormwater facilities are platted currently under Autumn Ridge 6th Addition. However, this 
stormwater facility is designed to serve this tract of land now known as Autumn Ridge 10th 
Addition. Conveyance to the regional detention on Autumn Ridge 10th Addition is collected either 
in the private street with intakes or captured by overland swales protected in drainage 
easements. Collection from private street intakes will be captured and piped to the north fringe 
of the detention basin previously established in Autumn Ridge 6th Addition. Likewise, the 
overland drainage swales will convey rear-yard drainage within the swales into intakes to be 
collected by the private storm sewer network or by overland route towards the northern basin.  
 
During construction, it will be the developer’s responsibility to develop and maintain a Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention Plan that will limit onsite erosion from construction-related activities, 
as outline by City Code.  
 
Sanitary Sewer - The sanitary sewer currently runs along Autumn Lane. The developer will be 
extending private sanitary sewer service connections from existing manholes located on Autumn 
Lane. The private sanitary sewer will be extended westerly along the private street network to 
service each unit.  
 
Other – City staff notes that all the legal paperwork for the final plat of Autumn Ridge 10th 
Addition has been submitted to city staff and is attached in the packet for review. City staff notes 
that any outstanding permit issues regarding building, SWPPP, and land use permit be sorted 
out prior to commencing construction work for the project.  
 
 
 
 
 

19

Item 3.



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department has reviewed the proposed preliminary and final plat 
for 10th Addition and recommends approval of the proposed Autumn Ridge 10th Addition 
Preliminary and Final Plat with the following stipulation:  
 

1. Any comments or direction specified by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
2. Conformance with all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

 
Staff notes that the proposed preliminary plat cannot be approved before the approval of the 
revised RP Master Plan. Staff notes that if the plats are approved tonight by Planning and 
Zoning Approval, the case will move forward to the next available City Council meeting for 
review.  
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
05/12/2021 

 

 

20

Item 3.



Thresher Ct
Cor duroy Dr

Go
lde

n L
n

Autumn Ridge Rd

Shocker Rd

Au
tum

n L
n

Paddington Dr

RP

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
May 12, 2021

Preliminary and Final Plat for Autumn
Ridge 10th Addition

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^Location
Map

21

Item 3.



Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

68
4\

dw
g\

Su
rv

ey
\P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
Pl

at
\5

68
4 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

Pl
at

.d
wg

 - 
PP

 1
 o

f 3
 - 

 1
1-

11
-2

0 
- 1

0:
48

am
 - 

sj
c3

25

CGA AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
1 OF 3

5684

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA PRELIMINARY PLAT
MJS

SJC

TRS

10-22-20

02-16-18

LEGEND

SIGN

X X X X

105

W (*) W

San(*) San

StS (*) StS

M

C C

G (*) G

OH E OH E

E (*) E

T(*) T

T T

PRELIMINARY PLAT
AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION

 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

OWNERS OF RECORD
B.N.K.D., INC.
1603 RUBBLE ROAD
WAVERLY, IOWA 50677

SURVEY REQUESTED BY:

ZONING INFORMATION:
CURRENT: RP (PLANNED RESIDENCE DISTRICT)

SURVEYOR AND ENGINEER
TRAVIS R. STEWART, P.L.S.
ADAM DATERS, P.E.
CLAPSADDLE-GARBER ASSOCIATES
P.O. BOX 754 - 16 E. MAIN STREET
MARSHALLTOWN, IOWA 50158
(641)752-6701

NOTE:
ALL BEARINGS ARE THE RESULT OF G.P.S. OBSERVATIONS
USING NAD83 IOWA STATE PLAN NORTH ZONE

CLOSURE:
- ALL SUBDIVISION BOUNDARIES ARE WITHIN THE 1:10,000 ERROR OF

CLOSURE REQUIREMENT
- ALL LOTS ARE WITHIN THE 1:5000 ERROR OF CLOSURE REQUIREMENT.

VICINITY MAP
NOT TO SCALE

SURVEY LEGEND
GOVERNMENT CORNER MONUMENT FOUND

SET MAG NAIL

PARCEL OR LOT CORNER MONUMENT FOUND

GOVERNMENT CORNER MONUMENT SET

ID CAP #17162
SET 1/2" x 30" REBAR w/ORANGE PLASTIC

1/2" x 30" REBAR w/ORANGE PLASTIC ID CAP #17162

AS NOTED ON PLAN

PROJECT
LOCATION

FLOOD ZONE
(ZONE X )
PANEL # 19013C0161F
EFFECTIVE DATE: JULY 18, 2011

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
AN UNPLATTED TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER AND THE EAST ONE-HALF
OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER, ALL IN SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, CITY
OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 15, AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION, AS RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT
#2017-10235; THENCE SOUTH 0°11'36" EAST, 360.10 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF TRACT "B", AUTUMN RIDGE 2ND
ADDITION, AS RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT #2004-36806; THENCE NORTH 88°47'56" WEST, 410.16 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST
LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 9; THENCE NORTH 0°12'39" WEST, 239.02
FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 9; THENCE
NORTH 0°11'08" EAST, 121. 06 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE EAST ONE-HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID
SECTION 9; THENCE SOUTH 88°48'01" EAST, 409.43 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF TRACT "C", AUTUMN RIDGE SIXTH ADDITION,
AS RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT #2017-6522 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 15, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

AND

TRACT "B", AUTUMN RIDGE 2ND ADDITION IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP
89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AS
RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT #2004-36806.

AND

THAT PART OF LOT 2, AUTUMN RIDGE 2ND ADDITION IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9,
TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY,
IOWA, AS RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT #2004-36806, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF PARCEL "C" AS RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT #2013-16185; THENCE SOUTH 89°46'47"
WEST, 410.00 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PARCEL "C" AND THE NORTH LINE OF PARCEL "E" AS RECORDED ON
INSTRUMENT #2017-20633 TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF
SECTION 9; THENCE NORTH 0°12'26" WEST, 151.14 FEET ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TRACT "B" AS
RECORDED ON INSTRUMENT #2004-36806; THENCE SOUTH 88°47'58" EAST, 410.16 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID TRACT
"B" TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE SOUTH 0°11'36" EAST, 140.97 FEET ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

THIS PARCEL CONTAINS 5.42 ACRES.

SETBACK DATA

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

Signature Date

My license renewal date is December 31, 2021

Iowa License Number 17162

Travis R. Stewart, PLS

I hereby certify that this land surveying document was
prepared and related survey work was performed by me
or under my direct personal supervision and that I am a
duly Licensed Professional Land Surveyor under the
laws of the State of Iowa.

DATE PREPARED : 10-22-20

O
F E

N

EIS

ES O

ANO
I

L
WA I

GN

EDL

P
R

19579

EIC NS

E
R

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

Signature Date

My license renewal date is December 31, 2020

Iowa License Number 19579

Adam C. Daters, PE

I hereby certify that this engineering document was
prepared by me or under my direct personal supervision
and that I am a duly licensed Professional Engineer
under the laws of the State of Iowa.

AD

AM

A
D

C .

ET

R
S

B.N.K.D., INC.
1603 RUBBLE ROAD
WAVERLY, IOWA 50677

N

CITY LIMITS

MAILBOX NOTES:
1. CLUSTER MAILBOX UNITS SHALL COMPLY WITH

ALL USPS STANDARDS & SPECIFICATIONS.

2. CONTRACTOR WILL CONSULT WITH THE CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

3. ALL CLUSTER MAILBOXES SHALL BE PLACED IN
THE R.O.W.

TS

T
RAWE.RSIVART

NE SEDIL C

17162

WAI O

P
R

O
F

E
SS IONAL L AND SUR

V
E

Y
O

R

SHEET 1 OF 3, SHEET 2 OF 3, AND SHEET 3 OF 3.

(  )     RECORDED AS

FRONT YARD = 20 FT
REAR YARD =  35 FT
SIDE YARD =   8 FT

*SETBACKS LISTED ARE MINIMUM, REFER TO PLAT FOR
SHOWN SETBACKS.

SITE NOTE:
1. NO ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES TO BE PLACED ON OVERLAND FLOW PATHS AND ESTABLISHED DRAINAGE EASEMENTS.

22

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECIDUOUS TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHRUBS (BUSHES)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN (TYPE AS NOTED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILT FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTOUR LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
105

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEANOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEEHIVE INTAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHEAD ELECTRICAL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURIED ELECTRICAL LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRICAL BOX/TRANSFORMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE PEDESTAL



M
M

M

M

Sa
n(

D) TV
TVTV TV

Sa
n(

D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D)T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D)

W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)

W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)

W
(D

)

W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D)

San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D)

Sa
n(

D)
Sa

n(
D)

Sa
n(

D) Sa
n(

D)

San(D)San(D)San(D)San(D)San(D)San(D)

W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D)

W(D) W(D)

Sa
n(

D)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

M
M

M

StS(D)

StS(D)

St
S(

D)

M

St
S(

D)
St

S(
D)

St
S(

D)
St

S(
D)

St
S(

D)

StS(D)

StS(D)

TV
TVTV TV

Sa
n(

D)

TV TV TVTV

TV
TV

TVTVTVTVTV

TV

TVTVTV

TV
TV

TVTVTVTV

TV
TV

TVTVTVTVTVTVTVTVTV

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)

G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W(D) W(D)

Sa
n(

D)

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

H
Y

D

H

YD

H
YD

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

H
YD

ZONED: RP

PHASE 2
PHASE 1

ZONED: RP

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

San San SanSanSanSanSanSanSanSanSan

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

SanSanSan

StS StS StS StS StS StS StSStS StS StS StS

StSStSStS

StSStSStSStSStSStS StSStSStS

ZONED: RP

(DRAINAGE STORM SEWER, AND
DETENTION EASEMENT DOC# 2014-10457)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

ZONED: RP

ZONED: RP

(D
O

C
 #

20
13

-1
61

85
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

PROPOSED INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

PROP. LINE (TYP.)

BUILDING LAYOUT (TYP.)

(D
O

C
 #

20
17

-2
06

33
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

20.00'

147.02' 140.28' 140.08'

13
8.

25
'

27
1.

82
'

27
1.

93
'

27
1.

70
'

27
1.

58
'

13
8.

42
'

121.06'

13
7.

30
'

27
2.

13
'

169.61'

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

43.0' INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

43.0' INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

40
9.

43
'

S
88

°4
8'

01
"E

 
(N

89
°3

0'
13

"W
)

571.06'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

41
0.

00
' (4

09
.8

7'
)

S
89

°4
6'

47
"W

 
(N

88
°5

5'
43

"E
)

460.15'
N0°12'26"W

121.06'
N0°11'08"E

106.50'

239.02'
N0°12'39"W

360.10'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

41
0.

16
' (4

09
.9

9'
)

S
88

°4
7'

56
"E

 
(S

89
°3

9'
13

"E
)

41
0.

13
' (4

09
.9

9'
)

S
88

°4
7'

58
"E

 
(S

89
°3

9'
13

"E
)

151.14'

290.54'

140.97' (140.99')

69.99'

69.99'

R2
5'

R2
5'

R10
'

R10'

R10
'

R10
'

R2
5' R25

'

30
.0

' I
N

G
R

E
S

S
/E

G
R

E
S

S
A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

N.
 L

IN
E 

TR
AC

T 
"B

"
SE

E 
NO

TE
 1

578.42'

30
.0

1'

125.35'

26
6.

95
'

26
6.

91
'

237.36'

26
6.

72
'

26
6.

69
'

128.97'

30
.0

0'

287.25' 290.55'

140.18' 150.40'

140.14' 140.34'

280.48'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

290.58'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

41
0.

16
' (4

09
.9

9'
)

N
88

°4
7'

56
"W

 
(S

89
°3

9'
13

"E
)

N.
 L

IN
E 

LO
T 

2

20.01'

25
9.

26
' (2

59
.0

4'
)

15
0.

17
'

LOT 1
0.94 ACRES

LOT 2
0.92 ACRES

LOT 3
0.87 ACRES

LOT 4
0.88 ACRES

LOT 5
0.91 ACRES

LOT 6
0.90 ACRES

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

68
4\

dw
g\

Su
rv

ey
\P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
Pl

at
\5

68
4 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

Pl
at

.d
wg

 - 
PP

 2
 o

f 3
 - 

 1
1-

11
-2

0 
- 1

0:
48

am
 - 

sj
c3

25

CGA AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
2  OF 3

5684

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA PRELIMINARY PLAT
MJS

SJC

TRS

10-22-20

02-16-18

PRELIMINARY PLAT - AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

60'30' 90'

25'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

12'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

DATE PREPARED : 10-22-20

1339.03'
N0°12'26"W

UNRECORDED STORM SEWER EASEMENT
PER FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-20633

2632.75' (2632.63')
N0°11'08"E (N0°40'12"W)

NW CORNER OF THE EAST 12 OF
THE NORTHEAST 14 SEC. 9,
T89N, R14W. FOUND MAG NAIL
IN ASPHALT. (DOC# 2014-11919)

NE CORNER OF THE
SOUTHWEST 14 OF THE
SOUTHEAST 14 SEC. 9, T89N,
R14W. FOUND 1" PINCH PIPE.
(FILE NUMBER: 2015-12479)

NW CORNER OF THE
NORTHEAST 14 OF THE
SOUTHEAST 14 SEC. 9, T89N,
R14W. FOUND LIMESTONE
WITH CUT "X". (FILE NUMBER:
2015-12480)

EXISTING WALK (TYP.)

PROPOSED WALK (TYP.)

NOTES
1. NORTH LINE OF AUTUMN RIDGE 2ND ADDITION (DOC

#2004-36806) AND PARCEL "A" (MISC. BK. 345 PG. 524)
2. STREET A, STREET, B AND STREET C SHALL ALL BE PRIVATE IN

NATURE AND SHALL BE A PERMANENT ACCESS EASEMENT.

EAST 14 CORNER
 SEC. 9, T89N, R14W

 FOUND IRON PIN
 (BK 0345 PG 681))

13
39

.1
7'

 (1
33

8.
91

')
S

88
°4

8'
12

"E
 

(S
89

°3
9'

13
"E

)

SO
UT

H 
LI

NE
 O

F 
E1 2 -

 N
E1 4 S

EC
. 9

-8
9-

14

WEST LINE OF E1
2 - NE1

4 SEC. 9-89-14
WEST LINE OF NE1

4 - SE1
4 SEC. 9-89-14

FND 12" IRON PIN W/
ILLEGIBLE YELLOW

PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. UNPLATTED TRACT
SE CORNER LOT 15

FND 12" IRON PIN W/
BROKEN YELLOW

PLASTIC CAP

FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. LOT 2, AUTUMN
RIDGE SECOND ADD.
NE CORNER PARCEL "C"
FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

PROPOSED
MAILBOX
LOCATION

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E
LO

T 
LI

N
E

LOT LINE LOT LINE LOT LINE

23

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION LEDGES II 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "C" AUTUMN RIDGE SIXTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "B" AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PT. LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN LANE (60' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN   RIDGE   SEVENTH   ADDITION' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "C" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "E" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THRESHER COURT (70' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: LINDA S OSBORN UNPLATTED SW  NE   14 NE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JENNIFER K JACOBSON AND JAYNE A SPEAR UNPLATTED NW  SE   14 SE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE1/4 SE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE1/4 NE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14



M
M

M

M

Sa
n(

D) TV
TVTV TV

Sa
n(

D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D)T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D) T(D)

W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)

W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)W(D)

W
(D

)
W

(D
)

W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D)

San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D)

Sa
n(

D)
Sa

n(
D)

Sa
n(

D) Sa
n(

D)

San(D)San(D)San(D)San(D)San(D)San(D)

W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D)

W(D) W(D)

Sa
n(

D)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

M
M

M

StS(D)

StS(D)

St
S(

D)

M

St
S(

D)
St

S(
D)

St
S(

D)
St

S(
D)

St
S(

D)

StS(D)

StS(D)

TV
TVTV TV

Sa
n(

D)

TV TV TVTV

TV
TV

TVTVTVTVTV

TV

TVTVTV

TV
TV

TVTVTVTV

TV
TV

TVTVTVTVTVTVTVTVTV

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)

G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

E(
D)

W
(D

)

W
(D

)

W(D) W(D)

Sa
n(

D)

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

H
Y

D

H

YD

H
YD

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

H

YD

ZONED: RP

PHASE 2
PHASE 1ZONED: RP

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

San San SanSanSanSanSanSanSanSanSan

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

SanSanSan

StS StS StS StS StS StS StSStS StS StS StS

StSStSStS

StSStSStSStSStSStS StSStSStS

ZONED: RP

(DRAINAGE STORM SEWER, AND
DETENTION EASEMENT DOC# 2014-10457)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

ZONED: RP

ZONED: RP

(D
O

C
 #

20
13

-1
61

85
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

(D
O

C
 #

20
17

-2
06

33
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

986

987

98
8

98
8

98
8

98
7

98
6

98
5

98
4

98
3

98
2

98
2

98
1

98
1

981
98

2

98
2

976 977 978 979 980 981 982 983 984 985 986 987 988 989 990 991

98
2

98
1

98
0

97
9

97
8

97
7

97
6

97
5

20.00'

PROPOSED INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

PROP. LINE (TYP.)

BUILDING LAYOUT (TYP.)

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

31.00'

41
0.

00
' (4

09
.8

7'
)

S
89

°4
6'

47
"W

 
(N

88
°5

5'
43

"E
)

147.02' 140.28' 140.08'

13
8.

25
'

27
1.

82
'

27
1.

93
'

27
1.

70
'

27
1.

58
'

13
8.

42
'

121.06'

13
7.

30
'

27
2.

13
'

169.61'

40
9.

43
'

S
88

°4
8'

01
"E

 
(N

89
°3

0'
13

"W
)

571.06'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

460.15'
N0°12'26"W

121.06'
N0°11'08"E

106.50'

239.02'
N0°12'39"W

360.10'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

151.14'

290.54'

140.97' (140.99')

69.99'

69.99'

287.25' 290.55'

140.18' 150.40'

140.14' 140.34'

280.48'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

290.58'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

25
9.

26
' (2

59
.0

4'
)

15
0.

17
'

20.01'

LOT 1
0.94 ACRES

LOT 2
0.92 ACRES

LOT 3
0.87 ACRES

LOT 4
0.88 ACRES

LOT 5
0.91 ACRES

LOT 6
0.90 ACRES

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

68
4\

dw
g\

Su
rv

ey
\P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
Pl

at
\5

68
4 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

Pl
at

 3
 o

f 3
.d

wg
 - 

PP
 3

 o
f 3

 - 
 1

1-
11

-2
0 

- 1
0:

48
am

 - 
sj

c3
25

CGA AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
3  OF 3

5684

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA PRELIMINARY PLAT
MJS

SJC

TRS

10-22-20

02-16-18

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

60'30' 90'

UNRECORDED STORM SEWER EASEMENT
PER FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

DATE PREPARED : 10-22-20

NOTES
THE EXTENT OF TOPOGRAPHIC CHANGES SHALL
CONSIST OF ROADWAY GRADING AND LOT GRADING.
· STREET , STREET B AND STREET C ARE TO BE

DESIGNATED AS PRIVATE ROADWAYS
· SLOPES SHALL NOT EXCEED 4:1 IN ANY ACCESS

EASEMENT AREA

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-20633

25'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

12'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

1339.03'
N0°12'26"W2632.75' (2632.63')

S0°11'08"W (N0°40'12"W)

NW CORNER OF THE EAST 12 OF
THE NORTHEAST 14 SEC. 9,
T89N, R14W. FOUND MAG NAIL
IN ASPHALT. (DOC# 2014-11919)

NE CORNER OF THE
SOUTHWEST 14 OF THE
SOUTHEAST 14 SEC. 9, T89N,
R14W. FOUND 1" PINCH PIPE.
(FILE NUMBER: 2015-12479)

NW CORNER OF THE
NORTHEAST 14 OF THE
SOUTHEAST 14 SEC. 9, T89N,
R14W. FOUND LIMESTONE
WITH CUT "X". (FILE NUMBER:
2015-12480)

EAST 14 CORNER
 SEC. 9, T89N, R14W

 FOUND IRON PIN
 (BK 0345 PG 681))

13
39

.1
7'

 (1
33

8.
91

')
S

88
°4

8'
12

"E
 

(S
89

°3
9'

13
"E

)

SO
UT

H 
LI

NE
 O

F 
E1 2 -

 N
E1 4 S

EC
. 9

-8
9-

14

WEST LINE OF E1
2 - NE1

4 SEC. 9-89-14
WEST LINE OF NE1

4 - SE1
4 SEC. 9-89-14

PRELIMINARY PLAT - AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

FND 12" IRON PIN W/
ILLEGIBLE YELLOW

PLASTIC CAP

FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. UNPLATTED TRACT
SE CORNER LOT 15

FND 12" IRON PIN W/
BROKEN YELLOW

PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. LOT 2, AUTUMN
RIDGE SECOND ADD.
NE CORNER PARCEL "C"
FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E
LO

T 
LI

N
E

LOT LINE LOT LINE LOT LINE

24

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION LEDGES II 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "C" AUTUMN RIDGE SIXTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "B" AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PT. LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN LANE (60' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN   RIDGE   SEVENTH   ADDITION' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "C" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "E" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
968

AutoCAD SHX Text
969

AutoCAD SHX Text
970

AutoCAD SHX Text
971

AutoCAD SHX Text
972

AutoCAD SHX Text
973

AutoCAD SHX Text
974

AutoCAD SHX Text
975

AutoCAD SHX Text
976

AutoCAD SHX Text
985

AutoCAD SHX Text
984

AutoCAD SHX Text
979

AutoCAD SHX Text
980

AutoCAD SHX Text
981

AutoCAD SHX Text
983

AutoCAD SHX Text
984

AutoCAD SHX Text
985

AutoCAD SHX Text
986

AutoCAD SHX Text
989

AutoCAD SHX Text
990

AutoCAD SHX Text
991

AutoCAD SHX Text
990

AutoCAD SHX Text
987

AutoCAD SHX Text
988

AutoCAD SHX Text
989

AutoCAD SHX Text
990

AutoCAD SHX Text
986

AutoCAD SHX Text
987

AutoCAD SHX Text
988

AutoCAD SHX Text
989

AutoCAD SHX Text
990

AutoCAD SHX Text
991

AutoCAD SHX Text
992

AutoCAD SHX Text
993

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: LINDA S OSBORN UNPLATTED SW  NE   14 NE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JENNIFER K JACOBSON AND JAYNE A SPEAR UNPLATTED NW  SE   14 SE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
THRESHER COURT (70' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE1/4 SE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE1/4 NE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14



25

Item 3.



ZONED: RP

PHASE 2

PHASE 1

ZONED: RPZONED: RP

(DRAINAGE STORM SEWER, AND
DETENTION EASEMENT DOC# 2014-10457)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

ZONED: RP

ZONED: RP

(D
O

C
 #

20
13

-1
61

85
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

PROPOSED INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT SEE

DETAIL SHEET 3 OF 3

PROP. LINE (TYP.)

(D
O

C
 #

20
17

-2
06

33
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

20.00'

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

N.
 L

IN
E 

TR
AC

T 
"B

"
SE

E 
NO

TE
 1

43.0' INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

43.0' INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

20
.0

' I
N

G
R

E
S

S
/E

G
R

E
S

S
A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

2.00'

18.00'

LOT 1
0.94 ACRES

LOT 2
0.92 ACRES

LOT 3
0.87 ACRES

LOT 4
0.88 ACRES

LOT 5
0.91 ACRES

LOT 6
0.90 ACRES

41
0.

00
' (

40
9.

87
')

S
89

°4
6'

47
"W

 (N
88

°5
5'

43
"E

)

41
0.

16
' (

40
9.

99
')

S
88

°4
7'

56
"E

 (S
89

°3
9'

13
"E

)

41
0.

13
' (

40
9.

99
')

S
88

°4
7'

58
"E

 (S
89

°3
9'

13
"E

)

41
0.

16
' (

40
9.

99
')

N
88

°4
7'

56
"W

 (S
89

°3
9'

13
"E

)

N.
 L

IN
E 

LO
T 

2

20.01'

147.02' 140.28' 140.08'

13
8.

25
'

27
1.

82
'

27
1.

93
'

27
1.

70
'

27
1.

58
'

13
8.

42
'

121.06'

13
7.

30
'

169.61'

40
9.

43
'

S
88

°4
8'

01
"E

 (N
89

°3
0'

13
"W

)

571.06'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

460.15'
N0°12'26"W

121.06'
N0°11'08"E

239.02'
N0°12'39"W

360.10'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

151.14'

290.54'

140.97' (140.99')

69.99'

69.99'

287.25' 290.55'

140.18' 150.40'

140.14' 140.34'

280.48'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

290.58'
S0°11'36"E (N1°02'16"W)

25
9.

26
' (

25
9.

04
')

15
0.

17
'

27
2.

13
'

17
0.

46
'

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

68
4\

dw
g\

Su
rv

ey
\F

in
al

 P
la

t\5
68

4 
Fi

na
l P

la
t.d

wg
 - 

FP
 2

 o
f 3

 - 
 0

4-
21

-2
1 

- 7
:1

3a
m

 - 
sj

c3
25

CGA AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
2  OF 3

5684

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA FINAL PLAT
MJS

SJC

TRS

10-22-20

02-16-18

FINAL PLAT - AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

60'30' 90'

25'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

12'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

DATE PREPARED : 10-22-20

1339.03'
N0°12'26"W

UNRECORDED STORM SEWER EASEMENT
PER FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-20633

2632.75' (2632.63')
N0°11'08"E (N0°40'12"W)

NW CORNER OF THE EAST 12 OF
THE NORTHEAST 14 SEC. 9,
T89N, R14W. FOUND MAG NAIL
IN ASPHALT. (DOC# 2014-11919)

NE CORNER OF THE
SOUTHWEST 14 OF THE
SOUTHEAST 14 SEC. 9, T89N,
R14W. FOUND 1" PINCH PIPE.
(FILE NUMBER: 2015-12479)

NW CORNER OF THE
NORTHEAST 14 OF THE
SOUTHEAST 14 SEC. 9, T89N,
R14W. FOUND LIMESTONE
WITH CUT "X". (FILE NUMBER:
2015-12480)

NOTES
1. NORTH LINE OF AUTUMN RIDGE 2ND ADDITION (DOC

#2004-36806) AND PARCEL "A" (MISC. BK. 345 PG. 524)
2. STREET A, STREET, B AND STREET C SHALL ALL BE PRIVATE

AND SHALL BE ENCOMPASSED IN  A PERMANENT ACCESS
EASEMENT.

EAST 14 CORNER
 SEC. 9, T89N, R14W

 FOUND IRON PIN
 (BK 0345 PG 681))

13
39

.1
7'

 (1
33

8.
91

')
S

88
°4

8'
12

"E
 (S

89
°3

9'
13

"E
)

SO
UT

H 
LI

NE
 O

F 
E1 2 -

 N
E1 4 S

EC
. 9

-8
9-

14

WEST LINE OF E1
2 - NE1

4 SEC. 9-89-14
WEST LINE OF NE1

4 - SE1
4 SEC. 9-89-14

FND 12" IRON PIN W/
ILLEGIBLE YELLOW

PLASTIC CAP

FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. UNPLATTED TRACT
SE CORNER LOT 15

FND 12" IRON PIN W/
BROKEN YELLOW

PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. LOT 2, AUTUMN
RIDGE SECOND ADD.
NE CORNER PARCEL "C"
FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E
LO

T 
LI

N
E

LOT LINE LOT LINE LOT LINE

1 ADDRESS CITY COMMENTS SJC 04-21-2021

26

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION LEDGES II 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 14 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "C" AUTUMN RIDGE SIXTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "B" AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PT. LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN LANE (60' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN   RIDGE   SEVENTH   ADDITION' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "C" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "E" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THRESHER COURT (70' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: LINDA S OSBORN UNPLATTED SW  NE   14 NE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JENNIFER K JACOBSON AND JAYNE A SPEAR UNPLATTED NW  SE   14 SE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE1/4 SE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE1/4 NE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14



ZONED: RP

PHASE 2
PHASE 1

ZONED: RP

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

ZONED: RP

(D
O

C
 #

20
13

-1
61

85
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

INGRESS/EGRESS ACCESS
EASEMENT

PROP. LINE (TYP.)

(D
O

C
 #

20
17

-2
06

33
)

ZO
N

E
D

: R
P

20.00'

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

20.00'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

571.06'
S0°11'36"E  (N1°02'16"W)

41
0.

00
' (

40
9.

87
')

S
89

°4
6'

47
"W

 (N
88

°5
5'

43
"E

)

460.15'
N0°12'26"W

121.06'
N0°11'08"E

290.54'
S0°12'53"E

N.
 L

IN
E 

TR
AC

T 
"B

"
SE

E 
NO

TE
 1

287.25'
S0°14'23"E

290.55'
S0°14'23"E

43.0' INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

43.0' INGRESS/EGRESS
ACCESS EASEMENT

30
.0

' I
N

G
R

E
S

S
/E

G
R

E
S

S
A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

140.18'
S0°11'36"E  (N1°02'16"W)

150.40'
S0°11'36"E  (N1°02'16"W)140.14'

S0°11'36"E  (N1°02'16"W)
140.34'

S0°11'36"E  (N1°02'16"W)

2.00'

18.00'

LOT 1
0.94 ACRES

LOT 2
0.92 ACRES

LOT 3
0.87 ACRES

LOT 4
0.88 ACRES

LOT 5
0.91 ACRES

LOT 6
0.90 ACRES

578.42'
N0°14'23"W

125.35'
S0°14'23"E

26
6.

95
'

N
89

°4
5'

37
"E

43.00'

S0°11'36"E
 (N1°02'16"W)

26
6.

91
'

S
89

°4
5'

37
"W

237.36'
S0°14'23"E

26
6.

72
'

N
89

°4
7'

38
"E

43.00'

S0°11'36"E
 (N1°02'16"W)

26
6.

69
'

S
89

°4
7'

38
"W

128.97'
S0°14'23"E

30
.0

0'
S

89
°4

6'
47

"W

N.
 L

IN
E 

LO
T 

2

146.98' 140.27'

13
8.

25
'

N
89

°4
6'

23
"E

27
1.

82
'

N
89

°4
6'

23
"E

27
1.

93
'

N
89

°4
5'

37
"E

27
1.

70
'

N
89

°4
7'

38
"E

27
1.

58
'

S
89

°4
6'

47
"W

13
8.

42
'

S
89

°4
6'

47
"W

169.61'

140.08' 150.47'

130.40'120.18'120.14' 120.34'

13
7.

30
'

27
2.

13
'

40
9.

43
'

S
88

°4
8'

01
"E

 (N
89

°3
0'

13
"W

)

20.01'

25
9.

26
' (

25
9.

04
')

15
0.

17
'

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

J:
\5

68
4\

dw
g\

Su
rv

ey
\F

in
al

 P
la

t\5
68

4 
Fi

na
l P

la
t 3

 o
f 3

.d
wg

 - 
FP

 3
 o

f 3
 - 

 0
4-

21
-2

1 
- 7

:1
3a

m
 - 

sj
c3

25

CGA AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
3  OF 3

5684

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA FINAL PLAT
MJS

SJC

TRS

10-22-20

02-16-18

FINAL PLAT - AUTUMN RIDGE TENTH ADDITION
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

60'30' 90'

25'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

12'  DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

DATE PREPARED : 10-22-20

(DRAINAGE STORM SEWER, AND
DETENTION EASEMENT DOC# 2014-10457)

UNRECORDED STORM SEWER EASEMENT
PER FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-10235

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
FILE NUMBER: 2017-20633

NW CORNER OF THE
NORTHEAST 14 OF THE
SOUTHEAST 14 SEC. 9, T89N,
R14W. FOUND LIMESTONE
WITH CUT "X". (FILE NUMBER:
2015-12480)

SO
UT

H 
LI

NE
 O

F 
E1 2 -

 N
E1 4 S

EC
. 9

-8
9-

14

WEST LINE OF E1
2 - NE1

4 SEC. 9-89-14 WEST LINE OF NE1
4 - SE1

4 SEC. 9-89-14

FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. UNPLATTED TRACT
SE CORNER LOT 15

FND 12" IRON PIN W/
BROKEN YELLOW

PLASTIC CAP

P.O.B. LOT 2, AUTUMN
RIDGE SECOND ADD.
NE CORNER PARCEL "C"
FND 12" REBAR W/
YELLOW PLASTIC CAP

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 (

TY
P

.)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

 L
IN

E
 /A

C
C

E
S

S
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
LI

N
E

BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE BUILDING SETBACK LINE /ACCESS EASEMENT LINE

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (TYP.)/35' PERIMETER SETBACK

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E

LO
T 

LI
N

E
LO

T 
LI

N
E

LOT LINE LOT LINE LOT LINE

1 ADDRESS CITY COMMENTS SJC 04-21-2021

27

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION LEDGES II 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 15 AUTUMN RIDGE SEVENTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "B" AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PT. LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN LANE (60' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN   RIDGE   SEVENTH   ADDITION' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "C" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL "E" PT. OF LOT 2 AUTUMN RIDGE SECOND ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THRESHER COURT (70' R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: LINDA S OSBORN UNPLATTED SW  NE   14 NE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JENNIFER K JACOBSON AND JAYNE A SPEAR UNPLATTED NW  SE   14 SE   14ZONED A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "C" AUTUMN RIDGE SIXTH ADDITION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE1/4 SE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE1/4 NE1/4 SEC. 9-89-14



28

Item 3.



29

Item 3.



30

Item 3.



31

Item 3.



32

Item 3.



33

Item 3.



34

Item 3.



35

Item 3.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: May 7, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Zoning Map and Text Amendments - Downtown Character District Code and 
Regulating Plan 

 

 
A public review draft of a new zoning code and zoning map for the Downtown Character District were 
presented during a special virtual Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on February 17, 
2021. Since that time, the proposed code and regulating plan map have been available for public review 
and comment on the project webpage: www.ourcedarfalls.com. Over the last two months, consultants 
and staff have met virtually with the Planning and Zoning Commission at four special work sessions to 
discuss the various elements of the proposed code and regulating plan and answer questions from the 
Commission. Staff also provided opportunities for work session discussions with development 
professionals and with Community Main Street, and encouraged the public to view and submit questions 
or comments to the Planning Division. All property owners in the area were notified by mail of the public 
hearing date and provided within instructions on how to participate in the hearing. Notice was also 
published in the Courier for both the proposed new zoning code for Downtown and for the rezoning of 
property to the new designation of Downtown Character District (CD-DT), noting that the Downtown 
Character District Regulating Plan (attached) will be the new zoning map for the area.   
 
Public input was invited at public hearings on April 14 and April 28, 2021. The Commission considered 
various requested amendments to the draft at the April 14 meeting and made decisions on which 
amendments they would like to move forward. The attached Decision Matrix captures both the 
amendments considered and the Commission’s decisions. Since there were no further amendments 
requested at the April 28th meeting, the consultants and staff revised to the draft as directed by the 
Commission. The amended regulating plan and specific pages that were amended are attached. 
Changes are highlighted in red text.  Staff will provide new clean copy of the entire Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommended draft to the Commission at your meeting to replace the pages in your binder.   
 
The updated zoning regulations are an important step in implementing the Imagine Downtown! Vision 
Plan, which was adopted by the Cedar Falls City Council in November 2019. The plan was the result of 
public workshops and other public outreach events that took place in 2019, where community members 
were invited to share their feedback and ideas for the future of Downtown and surrounding 
neighborhoods. The adoption of new zoning regulations will encourage development that is consistent 
with the community’s vision. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Commission approve the Downtown Character District 
Code, associated Regulating Plan, Administrative Procedures, and Use Classification section, as 
amended at the direction of the Commission.   
 

36

Item 4.

http://www.ourcedarfalls.com/


 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
 
4/14/2021 
Public 
hearing  

Chair Leeper brought back the agenda item for the zoning code text amendments 
relative to downtown character district. Ms. Howard explained that the code has been 
available for public review for over a month, the Commission has reviewed the code 
during separate work sessions, and a number of emails and phone inquiries have 
been received from people within the study area. Staff and the consultants have 
highlighted any requests for amendments to the draft code in the decision matrix 
provided in the packet. Chair Leeper opened up the hearing to the public for 
comments.  
 
Jessie Crisman, 1003 Main Street, asked for more clarification on how the properties 
will be impacted by changes being made to Main Street and the flow of traffic and 
how that will impact the safety of children in the neighborhood. Ms. Howard noted 
that the reconstruction of Main Street is not a part of zoning code changes, but with 
regard to the changes in the zoning code for that area, Ms. Howard explained that in 
that particular area would allow for a mix of uses like it does today, but it will also 
keep existing single-family houses conforming.  
 
Melissa Sander, daughter of Joyce Anderson of 1117 Main Street, noted that her 
mother is concerned with the traffic coming from 12th Street, particularly with the high 
school nearby. She is also concerned with potential loss of parking. Mr. Leeper 
explained that the questions about the road are not part of the current discussion 
regarding rezoning. Those things are being discussed at City Council, but it isn’t part 
of this discussion. 
 
Jim Benda, 315 W. 2nd Street, stated that he would propose that commercial 
development be allowed for the entire block depth between 1st and 2nd Streets, 
because he is concerned that the area is too small otherwise for commercial 
development.  He gave McDonald’s as an example. Ms. Howard discussed the vision 
plan for that area and how the regulating plan does allow adjustments if needed to 
accommodate potential projects and discussed how the higher intensity Urban 
General does extend further into the block, but designates the south sides of those 
blocks as Neighborhood frontage . She noted that this was one of the requests for 
amendments that is included in the decision matrix, so would be discussed in more 
detail later in the meeting. 
 
Hillery Oberle, 2508 Franklin Street, voiced general support for the overall downtown 
zoning revision and applauds the effort that has been put into this process. 
 
Kim Bear, Community Main Street, commended the City on the whole process and 
how citizens have been included in the progression of the updates.  
 
As there were no more comments from the public, Ms. Howard displayed the matrix 
of proposed amendments for discussion and covered each item to allow for comment 
from the Commission.  
 
The first item was a change to the building form standards to allow the private open 
area to be above grade for lots with less than 70’ of depth. The Commission agreed 
that the change made sense. 
 

37

Item 4.



 
 

The second item was a change to the required building line on the change of the 
Required Building Line (RBL) on the Downtown Regulating Plan, on the north side of 
W. 2nd Street from Franklin Street to the western border of the District. 
Staff/consultants recommend the RBL should be moved forward an additional 5 ft. 
from 15 ft. to 10 ft. off the front property line to allow for redevelopment on these 
shallow depth lots. The Commission agreed that the change made sense. 
 
The next item was to insure consistency of terms between the new proposed Section 
26-140 and proposed Section 26-197, as well as clarifying language in Character 
District Use Table introductory paragraph concerning additional standards that apply. 
This will essentially make the terms match in each Section. The Commission was in 
agreement with the changes. 
 
The fourth item was to correct the outline format as needed throughout the 
document. The Commission agreed. 
 
The fifth item was a request from the Historical Society to add them as a Civic 
Building designation in the Regulating Plan. Staff is also looking to change other 
similar buildings to that designation as well. The Commission agreed with the 
changes. 
 
The next item was a change to Section 26-140 to distinguish between small and 
large commercial assembly uses in the use classification section. The Commission 
agreed with this change. 
 
The seventh item was to change the Regulating Plan designated building frontage on 
west side of Overman Park from Neighborhood small to Urban General 2 to 
accommodate existing businesses located along Franklin Street. Or alternatively, a 
request from Tom and Dorinda Pounds who would like assurance that their business 
can continue, but that the home could also be converted back to residential use in 
the future should that be desired. They would like an approach that would better 
accommodate existing businesses while maintaining the residential character and 
scale of the area. Staff suggests adding language to state that all existing businesses 
in the Neighborhood frontages at the time of Code adoption would be considered 
conforming, however no new businesses would be permitted. The Commission 
agreed to Option 2 as outlined in the matrix.  
 
The eighth item includes a design review process or role for the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. Ms. Howard discussed the pros and cons of the additional guidance 
proposed. Staff/consultants are not recommending adoption of a public design 
review process at this time. Mr. Larson would like to know more about the staff body 
that would be doing the architectural review and how the process works. Ms. Howard 
described the review process and the zoning review committee and the intent to 
assist developers in ensuring development projects meet all the new standards in the 
code. She noted that the committee can also consult with any other technical staff as 
needed and site plans would have to go through the Technical Review process as 
well. The Zoning Review Committee includes the planning manager, building official 
and a planner. She noted that this was a major goal of the zoning update to create a 
code that has clear and objective standards – to get rid of the gray area in the code, 
so projects could be reviewed administratively and to streamline the development 
review process. Ms. Saul asks what happens if someone doesn’t like the project. Ms. 

38

Item 4.



 
 

Howard stated that the code is clear and objective on standards so the staff has to 
follow those standards. There is not a lot of discretion with the new standards. Mr. 
Leeper noted that he would like to see some kind of process to be available to staff 
to send to the Commission to review and to approve or disapprove a project when 
something doesn’t seem right. There was more discussion by the Commission on the 
pros and cons of requiring this extra design review process. Director Sheetz noted 
that there were quite a few zones in the City where site plans are approved 
administratively already. There was further discussion on the matter and it was 
decided to keep the draft the same without a legislative review process and see how 
it works over time, noting that it could be reconsidered in the future if additional layer 
of review is needed.  
 
Item nine was brought forward by Kevin Harberts who owns properties along 2nd 
Street. It is to change the Regulating Plan so that the General Urban frontage 
designation goes from the 1st Street frontage to 2nd Street frontage. The requestor 
would like the option to create larger through lots for commercial uses that extend the 
full depth of the block from 1st to 2nd Streets. Ms. Howard noted that this was what 
Mr. Benda was also requesting earlier in the meeting. The pros and cons were 
discussed. Staff/consultants do not recommend this change as it would create a poor 
transition to the residential neighborhood along 2nd Street and would not be 
consistent with the adopted Downtown Vision Plan, which illustrated how this 
transition could be accomplished.  The regulating plan already allows deeper space 
to accommodate commercial redevelopment along 1st Street.  The Commission 
agreed that there should be no change to the regulating plan.  
 
The next item was to consider the inclusion of vinyl siding as an approved wall 
material in neighborhood frontages. The pros and cons were discussed and options 
were given for alternative siding choices and the Commission had a great deal of 
discussion. The Commission came to a consensus to move forward with the first, 
second and third options noted on the decision matrix: 
1. Maintain the prohibition of vinyl siding for new construction 
2. Permit the use of vinyl siding to replace or repair existing vinyl siding and for 

additions to existing buildings that already have vinyl siding.  
3. Permit use of vinyl siding that meets higher minimum standards for quality, 

maintenance, and durability, based on industry standards to replace or cover 
over other types of siding on existing single-family dwellings.   

 
The next item that was considered was lifting the prohibition of using higher quality 
foam products for architectural detail. Ms. Howard explained that the verbiage could 
be updated to allow for that kind of foam and the staff/consultants felt that would be 
appropriate. The Commission agreed.  
 
The 12th item on the draft review was the provision of more direction on ADU’s. After 
brief explanation, the commission agreed with this change. 
 
The final item was the prohibition of conversion of existing single unit dwellings into 
duplexes or multi-unit dwellings, similar to the current prohibition in the R1 and R2 
Zones. Staff recommends this change in order to help stabilize these neighborhoods, 
while allowing new housing types that meet all the new standards in the code. There 
was brief discussion and the Commission agreed with making this change.  
 

39

Item 4.



 
 

Mr. Leeper asked what the next steps would be. Howard explained that the 
Commission could continue the hearing as long as they feel is needed to cover any 
questions or suggestions for changes to the draft. She noted that staff anticipated 
that at least one additional meeting would be warranted and then if no further 
changes or discussion was needed, the Commission would make a recommendation 
to Council. In response to a question, she noted that variety of notifications and press 
releases have gone out to keep the public informed of the opportunity to participate. 
 

 
Public 
hearing 
Continued  
4/28/2021 
Discussion  

The next item of business was amendments to the zoning code text with regard 
to the Downtown Character District Regulations. Chair Leeper introduced the item 
and Ms. Howard provided background information. She noted that there are no 
additional requests received for amendments to the draft from what was 
discussed at the last meeting.  
 
Mr. Hartley requested more discussion about the parking requirements that are in 
the draft code.  Ms. Howard provided an overview of what was proposed for 
parking requirements in the code, noting the difference between the Urban 
General Frontages and the Neighborhood Frontages. She explained the 
requirements for each area and discussed shared parking. The Commission 
discussed generally and confirmed that they were in agreement that the parking 
requirements that are proposed are where they should be for the downtown area. 
As there was no additional public comment, Mr. Leeper closed the public hearing. 
Ms. Howard briefly explained the next steps in the approval process. 
 

 

Attachments:  
 Decision Matrix 
 Amended red-lined pages of the Downtown Character District Code 
 Amended Regulating Plan 
 Recommended Draft of the Administrative Procedures (Section 26-36 through 

Section 26-39) – not changes were made. 
 Amended red-lined version of the Use Categories and Definitions (Section 26-

140)   
 

40

Item 4.



 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE PUBLIC REVIEW DRAFT OF THE DOWNTOWN ZONING CODE 
 

26-193 – Building Form Standards 

  
Proposed Amendment 

 
Explanatory Notes 

 
Consultant/Staff 
Recommendation 

P&Z Discussion   
(Date) 

P&Z Decision 

 
1 

 
Requestor: Consultant/staff   
 
Change Building Form Standards (BFS) 
Section 193.5 Neighborhood Small 
Frontage B. Placement 4. Buildable 
Area to allow Private Open Area to be 
above grade for lots with less than 70 ft 
of depth. 

 
Technical Fix: This better accommodates rowhouses on 
especially shallow lots (such as many of the lots along 2nd 
Street, as shown in the Vision Plan) with their 66ft 
width/depth. This will make Neighborhood Small consistent 
with Neighborhood Medium. 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment.  

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make the change.  

 
Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
2 

 
Requestor: Consultant/staff  
 
Change Required Building Line (RBL) 
on the Downtown Regulating Plan, on 
the north side of W 2nd St. from Franklin 
St. to the western border of the District. 
The RBL should be moved forward an 
additional 5ft, from 15ft to 10ft off the 
front property line.   

 
Technical Fix: This is for consistency with the RBL to the 
east of Franklin (Urban General 2) and better 
accommodates rowhouses fronting 2nd Street (as shown in 
the Vision Plan) within the shallower (66ft) depth of many of 
those lots.  
 
This keeps the building form and scale consistent with the 
Neighborhood Small designation, but allows room for both 
parking and for usable ground floor space within the 
buildings.  

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment to the Downtown 
Character District Regulating Plan.  
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make the change. 

 
Amendment 
Approved 
 

 
3 

 
Requestor: Staff 

a) Insure consistency of terms 
between new proposed Section 
26-140. Use-Specific 
Standards, Category 
Descriptions, and Definitions 
and proposed Section 26-197. 
Building Functions;  

b) Clarify language in Character 
District Use Table introductory 
paragraph concerning additional 
standards that apply 

 
Technical Fix:  
a) Because drafting was an iterative process, additional 
revisions were made to Section 26-140, Use Classification, 
after the public review draft of Downtown Character District 
Code (Section 26-197) was released. This is a simple 
clean-up to make sure terms are internally consistent. Also 
to correct the Code Section number of the Use 
Classification to Sec. 26-140 (not 26-132).   
 
b) Make clear that additional development and performance 
standards apply above and beyond the broad permitted use 
categories. 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
these amendments 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

41

Item 4.



 
4 

 
Requestor: Staff 
 
Correct outline format, as needed 

 
Technical Fix: Some outline numbers are out of sequence 
and need correction 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
5 

 
Requestor: Historical Society and 
Planning Staff 
 
Add Civic Building designations to 
Regulating Plan 

 
Technical Fix: The Cedar Falls Woman’s Club and Cedar 
Falls Historical Society Victorian House Museum and 
Museum Buildings in Sturgis Park should be identified as 
Civic Buildings.  

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes. 

Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
6 

 
Requestor: Consultant/Staff 
 
Change to Section 26-140. Use-
Specific Standards, Category 
Descriptions, and Definitions for 
clarity, etc. 

 
Technical Fix:  Clarification concerning categorization of 
commercial assembly uses as large or small based on size 
and the other classification criteria in Section 26-140(a)(3) 
 
This will help in classifying uses appropriately in different 
zoning districts. Examples include small commercial 
assembly uses, such as theaters that fit into a main street 
area, like the Oster Regent Theater downtown versus large 
commercial assembly uses, such as a large metroplex 
theater complex located in a suburban shopping center.  

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make these 
changes.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

42

Item 4.



 
7 

 
Requestor: P&Z Member Larson 
 
Change the Regulating Plan designated 
building frontage on west side of 
Overman Park from Neighborhood 
Small to Urban General 2 to 
accommodate existing businesses 
located in buildings along Franklin 
Street;  
 
or alternatively: 
 
Requestor: Tom and Dorinda Pounds 
They own a house on Franklin Street 
that was converted to office space for 
their business. They want assurance 
their business can continue, but also 
have maintained many of the historic 
residential features of the home, so it 
could be converted back to residential 
use in the future, if desired. 
 
They would like an approach to better 
accommodate existing businesses, 
while maintaining the residential 
character and scale of the area 

 
As drafted, all existing businesses can remain as non-
conforming uses. The new code requires no changes 
unless/until the owner makes a significant change to their 
business or building, at which time the standards identified 
in Section 26-38 Proportionate Compliance would apply, 
based on the [level/degree] of proposed change.  
 
The intent of the proposed limitations on new businesses in 
the Neighborhood frontage areas is to encourage their 
concentration in the core of Downtown for the synergy it 
creates and to stabilize and encourage reinvestment in the 
surrounding residential areas and preservation of the 
historic character of these areas. 
 
Options for change:  
 
Option 1: Change the regulating plan along west side of 
Franklin Street to Urban General 2. 
 

Pro: Insure existing business are not made non-
conforming 
 
Con: Change in building frontage designation affects 
more than use; it would also change the physical scale 
and character of permitted new buildings, potentially 
incentivizing the demolition of other houses in the 
neighborhood. This could potential affect the historic 
residential character along Franklin Street. Most 
businesses are located within existing residential 
structures.  

 
Option 2: Language could be added to state that all existing 
businesses at the time of code adoption are considered 
conforming, so can continue and even expand, but that no 
new businesses are permitted in the Neighborhood 
frontages. This is a similar approach we took for 
manufacturing businesses on the far east side of the study 
area.  
 
 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
Option 2, as it achieves the goal of 
keeping existing businesses 
conforming, but doesn’t have the 
unintended consequences noted 
with Option 1.  

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
make the changes 
per Option 2.  

 
Amendment 
Approved 
Option 2.  
 
(Note: add a 
parking 
requirement for 
non-residential 
uses in 
Neighborhood 
Frontages).  
 
 

43

Item 4.



 
8 

 
Requestor: P & Z Chair: 
Include a design review process/role for 
P&Z 

Commission expressed concern that it is difficult to legislate 
good design and that some additional design guidance may 
be needed, at least for some projects; and this process 
should be conducted through a public review process at 
P&Z and/or Council.  
 
Pros: Provides for more public scrutiny of development 
projects in the downtown area. Provides additional 
reassurance that a project will be consistent with the vision 
for downtown.  
 
Cons: One of the goals of the Downtown Zoning Code 
update was to streamline the development review process 
and move toward by-right approvals for those projects that 
meet a set of objective form-based standards. The benefits 
of this approach are to a) provide a greater level of 
predictability for property owners, developers, and 
neighbors; b) move away from the time and expense of 
negotiating individual projects in the Downtown district, 
particularly if it requires project redesign or additional legal 
fees; and c) remove the subjectivity of the public review 
process, where individual opinions can cause projects that 
otherwise meet the standards to be redesigned adding cost 
to the project.   
 
From a fairness and equity standpoint, it can also give 
undue influence to particularly persuasive or well-
connected applicants or to those who may simply want to 
prevent development from occurring.   
 
The purpose of establishing the staff Zoning Review 
Committee is to ensure that development projects meet the 
adopted standards, but also to assist applicants in their 
understanding of the intent of the provisions of the code, so 
they can achieve a more cohesive design, so in essence 
will serve as an administrative design review.  

Consultants/staff do not 
recommend adopting a pubic 
design review process at this time.  
 
If a majority of the Commission 
would still like to move forward with 
a public design review process, the 
consultants and staff will continue 
to work to determine a workable 
approach.   

Commission 
directed staff to 
keep the draft the 
same and not 
require a separate 
design review 
through P&Z and 
Council.  

No change 
recommended 

44

Item 4.



 
9 

 
Requestor: Kevin Harberts (owns two 
residential properties along 2nd Street). 
 
Change the Regulating Plan so that the 
General Urban frontage designation 
goes from the 1st Street frontage to 2nd 
Street frontage  
 
The requestor would like the option to 
create larger through lots for 
commercial uses that extend the full 
depth of the block from 1st to 2nd Street. 
 

 
The regulating plan designations between 1st and 2nd Street 
are already set up to provide more lot depth for Urban 
General along 1st Street to accommodate the larger 
footprint of many commercial buildings, leaving a shallower 
depth for the neighborhood frontage designation along 2nd 
Street, which can accommodate smaller footprint 
residential building types, such as rowhouses.  
 
Pros and Cons of making this change:  
  
Pro: Uniform building form standards for the entire parcel 
(with considerably more buildable area) 
 
Con: This would undermine the scale transition from the 
higher intensity, mixed-use 1st Street down to the less 
intense Overman Park neighborhood to the south. 
 
The code provides considerable flexibility for parcels with 
more than one frontage designation to shift the frontage 
designation to accommodate specific needs of the 
development. However, it is important for the buildings 
along both sides of 2nd Street to relate to one another, 
rather than having residential buildings facing the backs of 
1st Street businesses. The regulating plan designations 
ensure buildings of similar scale and character along both 
sides of a street.  
 

 
Consultant/staff are not in support 
of this amendment.  
 
The regulating plan already 
establishes  Urban General deeper 
into the block (from north to south) 
and leaves a rather shallow area 
along  2nd Street that will 
accommodate residential building 
forms, such as townhomes, as 
shown in the Imagine Downtown! 
Vision Plan.  

Commission 
directed staff to 
keep the 
regulating plan the 
same.  No change 
recommended.  

No change 
recommended 

45

Item 4.



 
10 

 
Requestor: Planning & Zoning 
Commission and questions from several 
members of the public.  
 
Consider the inclusion of vinyl siding as 
an approved wall material in 
Neighborhood Frontages 

 
There is concern that prohibiting vinyl siding in the 
Neighborhood Frontages could be cost prohibitive and 
encourage disinvestment in existing residential properties.  
 
The intent of the proposed prohibition was to promote more 
durable and environmentally sustainable building materials. 
(The issue is not one of aesthetics). 
 

Pro: Reduce the up-front cost of building construction 
and maintenance 
 
Con: Higher long-term costs for maintenance and 
upkeep; concerns related to durability and fire-
resistance; environmental impacts of PVC, i.e. 
produces toxic smoke when it burns and melts at a 
fairly low temperature; damaged or melted siding often 
ends up in the landfill and is not biodegradable. While it 
is possible to recycle it, there are often issues of 
contamination from dirt, nails, and mixed-in aluminum 
flashing. In contrast, wood, brick or stone have a life 
cycle of more than 100 years. The life span of vinyl is 
15 to 20 years before it becomes brittle from ultraviolet 
light and is easily damaged.   
 

If change to the ordinance is desired, following are some 
options:  

1. Maintain the prohibition of vinyl siding for new 
construction.  

2. Permit the use of vinyl siding to replace or repair 
existing vinyl siding. 

3. Permit use of vinyl siding that meets higher 
minimum standards for quality, maintenance, and 
durability, based on industry standards to replace or 
cover over other types of siding on existing single 
family dwellings.  

4. Delete the prohibition on vinyl siding from the code 
altogether, so it would be allowed on all existing and 
new buildings in the Neighborhood Frontages.  

 
 

 
Consultant/staff are particularly 
concerned about the long term 
consequences of allowing vinyl 
siding related to the noted 
environmental concerns, so 
recommend prohibiting vinyl siding 
for new construction.  
 
With regard to the second bullet 
point, the current draft already 
allows replacement of like material 
with like material for maintenance 
purposes. Consultant/staff would 
be in support of adding some 
additional language to make sure 
this is clear.  
 
Consultant/staff are not supportive 
of allowing vinyl siding to replace 
existing environmentally 
sustainable building materials, such 
as wood, stone, or brick. We feel 
that the long term costs outweigh 
the short term savings.  
 
Consultant/staff strongly 
recommend against listing vinyl 
siding as a generally allowed 
building material.  
 
 
 
 

 
Commission 
directed staff to 
move forward with 
making changes 
consistent with 1, 
2, and 3, but did 
not support option 
4.  
 
Bullet points 1 and 
2 were supported 
unanimously. 
Bullet point 3 was 
supported by a 
majority. 
 
With regard to 
bullet 1, the 
Commission 
requests that the 
language be 
clarified to indicate 
that for additions 
to existing 
buildings that have 
vinyl siding that 
vinyl siding can be 
used for the 
addition. We will 
need to discuss 
how to fit that into 
the trigger chart.   
 
Bullet point 4 was 
rejected by a 
majority. 

 
Amendments 
Approved 
according to 
bullet points 1, 
2, and 3.  
Majority of the 
Commission 
does not 
support 4.    
 
 

46

Item 4.



 
11 

Requestor: Jesse Lizer, Emergent 
Architects 
 
Permit the use of higher quality foam 
products for architectural detailing  

There is concern that the prohibition of “all other foam-
based products” in Sec. 26-194.C.5. would limit options for 
restoration of historic buildings. That was never the intent of 
this prohibition, but rather to limit the use of flimsy, easily 
damaged building materials, particularly at the street level. 
Potential change: 
 

 Delete “all other foam-based products” from the 
prohibited list and add a new item to the secondary 
materials list in Sec. 26-194.C.4. as follows: 
“Durable foam-based products, such as Fypon, may 
be used for architectural detailing.” 
 

 
Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment, 

Commission 
directed staff to 
make this change.  

Amendment 
Approved  
 

 
12 

 
Requestor: Staff 
 
Provide more direction for ADUs 

Concern that there is insufficient enforceability of owner-
occupancy requirement following the development of an 
ADU. Consider including a requirement for an affidavit/legal 
agreement with the City in Sec. 26-193.1.G (p.24) to be 
filed and recorded, so that it is clear to future owners or 
prospective buyers that the dwelling is not considered a 
duplex, so that the limits on size and occupancy for ADUs 
continue to be enforceable over time.   
 
The allowance for ADUs is intended to make home 
ownership more affordable and encourage investment and 
reinvestment that will help stabilize existing older 
neighborhoods surrounding downtown.   
 

Consultant/staff are in support of 
this amendment.  

Commission 
directed staff to 
make this change.  

Amendment 
Approved 
 

47

Item 4.



13 Requestor: Staff 
 
Prohibit conversion of existing single 
unit dwellings into duplexes or multi-unit 
dwellings. 
 

The new code opens up the possibility for new types of 
housing, but in a manner that ensures that new housing fits 
into the context of the neighborhood with quality design and 
a logical configuration of the dwelling units. However, the 
new standards and allowances are not intended to 
encourage existing single unit dwellings to be chopped up 
into additional units in a manner that reduces the 
functionality and livability of the dwelling and makes it less 
desirable for those seeking a long term rental opportunity or 
homeownership. As is often experienced in college towns 
this is a common practice to provide short term rentals for 
college students by converting living rooms, dining rooms, 
and other spaces to maximize the number of bedrooms. 
While providing rental housing for students is important, 
this particular practice often creates units that are not very 
conducive to long term renters and  cannot be easily or 
cost-effectively adapted or converted back to the original 
condition in response to market fluctuations, such as a drop 
in enrollment.   
 
Staff notes that making this change will keep the new code 
consistent with the City’s current conversion prohibition in 
the R1 and R2 Districts.  

Staff is in support of this change.  Commission 
directed staff to 
make this change.  

Amendment 
approved.  

Note: Did we make a change to the trigger chart re: parking?  

48

Item 4.



W 8th St

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 7th St

W 6th St

W 5th St

W 4th St

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

Cl
ay

 S
t

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t

Bl
uf

f S
t

Gr
ov

e 
St

O
liv

e 
St

W 18th St

W 19th St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

24.7

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

W 1st St

W 11th St

W 12th St

W 13th St

W 14th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

Cl
ay

 S
t

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

W
al

nu
t S

t

O
liv

e 
St

Io
w

a 
St

Railway

Public
Open Space

Civic Structure

Parking Setback

*1. see the Urban General BFS, 193.2.F.4.b, for more information. 

Storefront

Req'd Building

UNDERSTANDING THE REGULATING PLAN

Color and Symbol Key

Neighborhood
Study Area Bounds
Downtown Character

Line (RBL)

W 17th St

A Comfortable 5 Minute Walk

1
3

0
0

 F
e
e
t

1300 FT1200800600 1000200 400100300

St
at

e 
St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Bl
uf

f S
t

Planning and Zoning Commission

G2-4st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

G2- 5st, 120 lf

Streets
New 

W
al

nu
t S

t

Parkway Lane 

*3 Required street connection
between Walnut Street and either
College Street or Ida Street. The
e[act route is to be determined
through platting.
Consult the Zoning Administrator.

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 18th St

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

Neighborhood

Medium

Small

G
2-

no
 re

ta
il

Cl
ay

 S
t

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

Higby Drive

Urban
General

Urban
General 2

*1
St

or
ef

ro
nt

 3

*2. see the Neighborhood Medium BFS, 193.4.F.3.b or the Neighborhood Small BFS, 193.4.E.3.b, for more information. 

*1

*1

*2

*2

*1

May 2021 Ferrell Madden

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

*1
*2

*2 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2

*2

*2

*2

*2
*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*1 *1

*2

*1

*1*1
*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2
*1

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*1

*1

*2

*2*2

*2 *2 *2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2
*1

*2

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*1

*1

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Ida St

*3. Consult with the Zoning Administrator for more information. 

N
 C

ol
le

ge
 S

t

*2

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 1
5'

 R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l

Recommended Draft

49

Item 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
otherwise noted on the Regulating Plan. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Refer to the City for details. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Urban Public Space per the Code

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civic Green or Square

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(see below)

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUIRED BUILDING LINE (RBL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING FRONTAGE DESIGNATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Vehicle Parking (above ground)

AutoCAD SHX Text
is not allowed forward of this line unless

AutoCAD SHX Text
shall be BUILT-TO the RBL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
This indicates the relevant

AutoCAD SHX Text
Building Form Standard (BFS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
for your site.  The Building

AutoCAD SHX Text
This line indicates the RBL

AutoCAD SHX Text
rules governing your site. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPECIAL CONDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Specific limitation or allowance 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Consult the City for Site Specific Regulations

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawing for Coding Purposes Only, Dimensions are subject to change

AutoCAD SHX Text
*3



26-193 Building Form Standards

42 May 2021Planning & Zoning Commission 
Recommended Draft 

Character Districts

193.5 Neighborhood Small Frontage

B. PLACEMENT
1. Facade:  On each lot the building façade shall be built to the required building line (rbl) for at least 50% of 

the rbl length.  
2. A street wall or privacy fence is permitted on any unbuilt required building line. 
3. Maximum facade width: No individual structure or attached set/group of rowhouses may exceed a maximum 

façade frontage length of 60 Ft.  A gap of at least 10' is required between each building or set of rowhouses.
4. Buildable Area

a. The buildable area is delineated by the gray area in the diagram above.  The main portion of the buildable 
area is within 60' of the rbl. The sidewing buildable areas are between the main and rear buildable area 
and within 20' of each side setback. 

b. The required building line is indicated on the regulating plan. It is generally located 15' off the ROW/
property line for Neighborhood Small. The exact position of the RBL should be confirmed in consultation 
with the Zoning Administrator and ZRC.   

c. Setbacks: 10' each side lot line; 3' from an alley and 11' from rear lot line where there is no alley. 

d. A private open area equal to at least 20% of the buildable area must be provided on every lot.  
i. The minimum private open area dimension is 18'. 
ii. The private open area must be located at least 30' behind the required building line. 
iii. The private open area must be at grade, except balconies and extremely shallow lots, as specified in v. 

below;
iv. Up to 33% of the required private open area may be satisfied through the balconies of individual 

rowhouses and/or units, which are exempt from i and ii above.
v. The private open area for lots with less than 70' from the required building line to the rear setback, 

may be above grade.      
5. Other 

a. The parking setback line is indicated on the regulating plan, generally 40' from the rear lot line, with 
limited exceptions at  alley/rbl intersections and for other special conditions, see E.3. Rear Lot Area below. 
The side setback for parking is 3' from any common lot line

b. The minimum rowhouse width, measured parallel to the rbl, is 18'. 
c. A privacy fence is permitted, at or behind the required building line, on common lot lines, and on rear lot 

lines.   

50

Item 4.



49

 26-194 Architectural Standards

Planning & Zoning Commission
Review Draft

Character Districts

3. Primary Façade Materials
a. Any of the following building materials shall be used on a minimum of 75% of the facade area. This mea-

surement shall be calculated as a percentage of the wall portion of the facade, exclusive of fenestration. 
(i) Brick and terra cotta;
(ii) Natural stone;
(iii) Stucco (cement plaster); prefabricated stucco panels and sprayed on stucco finishes are prohibited;
(iv) Cast iron, copper, stainless steel (18-8 or better), or titanium metal. 

b. For Neighborhood frontages only: 
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential buildings. On 

other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with vinyl siding and 
any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.

c. Additional materials may be proposed to the Zoning Administrator and ZRC for review under the 
equivalent or better standard, see Section B.2.b above.

4. Secondary Materials
Any of the following materials are permitted on a maximum of 25% of the façade area and on all side and rear 
elevations. 
a. All permitted primary materials; 
b. Metal (heavy gauge & non-reflective);
c. Ground- or Split-faced block (integrally colored);
d. Glass block;
e. Decorative tile;
f. Pre-cast masonry; 
g. Durable foam-based products, such as Fypon, may be used for architectural detailing; and 
h. EIFS (Exterior Insulation and Finishing System) and other synthetic materials may be used above the second 

story, if on the ZRC Approved Alternate Materials List. 

5. Prohibited Materials
a. Styrofoam, and all other foam-based products;
b. Vinyl (except as noted above for Neighborhood frontages) and aluminum siding;

6. Configurations and Techniques
a. When different materials are used on a facade, heavier materials shall be used below lighter materials (i.e., 

stone below brick; brick below metal panel; brick below siding).
b. All masonry, including brick, block, and stone, shall be in an apparent load-bearing configuration. 
c. Where siding, including panels, is not mitered at corners, siding shall incorporate corner boards on the 

outside building corners to conceal raw edges. 
d. Wall openings (fenestration) must: 

(i) have a vertical dimension equal to or greater than the horizontal dimension unless otherwise specifically 
permitted in these district standards; 

(ii) correspond to the interior space and shall not span across building structure such as a floor or wall.  
e. Wood Siding and Wood Simulation Materials 

(i) Horizontal siding shall be configured with a maximum board exposure of 8 inches.
(ii) Board and batten siding shall have a maximum board width of 10 inches. 
(iii) Siding and shingles shall be smooth, not rough-sawn finish. 
(iv) Shall not come in contact with the ground surface.

f. Stucco: 
(i) Shall have a smooth or sand finish only; no rough textured finish.  
(ii) Shall not come in contact with the ground surface.

g. All exposed masonry walls (i.e., street walls, garden and other free-standing walls, and parapets) shall have 
a cap or coping to protect the top of the wall from weather. 

51

Item 4.



79May 2021

 26-196. Parking & Loading

Planning & Zoning Commission 
Recommended Draft

Character Districts

7. Permissive parking and loading facilities. Nothing in this ordinance shall be deemed to prevent the voluntary 
establishment of off-street parking or loading facilities to serve any existing use of land or buildings, in 
accordance with all regulations herein governing the location, design, and operation of such facilities.

D. Neighborhood Frontages – Minimum Parking Requirements

1. Minimum Reserved Parking: 
Reserved parking includes all parking that is not shared parking. 
a. Minimum reserved parking spaces for multi-unit residential buildings:

(i) Efficiency/1-bedroom units 0.75 spaces/unit
(ii) 2 or more bedroom units  additional .75 spaces per bedroom 
Note: In calculating the total number of minimum reserved spaces per building, any partial spaces .5 or above are 
rounded to the next whole number.

b. Minimum reserved parking spaces per dwelling unit in single-unit attached and detached, multi-unit 
rowhouse, two-unit, and cottage court configurations:
(i) Owner-occupied   1 space/unit
(ii) Renter-occupied   1 space/unit + one space/per bedroom for each bedroom above 2

c. Minimum reserved parking spaces for non-residential uses is 1 space per 300 square feet.

2. Minimum shared parking for multi-unit residential buildings is .25 per unit.

3. Off-site parking is not permitted for any required reserved parking in Neighborhood frontages.

E. Special Parking Standards

1. On-Street Parking in all Character Districts
a. A parking space located on a public street may be included in the calculation of shared parking 

requirements if it is adjacent to the building site (where more than 50% of the space is located within the 
street fronting the development parcel).

b. Each on-street parking space may only be counted once.

F. Parking Lot Plantings for New Development

1. For any surface parking lot not separated from the street-space by a building, the space between the required 
building line and the parking setback line shall be planted with canopy shade trees from the Tree Lists in 
Section 26-195. Public Realm Standards. Trees shall be planted at an average distance not to exceed 30 feet on 
center and aligned parallel 3 to 7 feet behind the required building line/street wall. 

2. The edge of any General Urban or Storefront frontage surface parking lot adjacent to a Neighborhood frontage lot 
shall be screened according to the standards in Section 26-193.1.F. Neighborhood Manners...

G. Loading Facilities

1. No loading facilities are required.

2. Where loading facilities are provided, they shall be located to, and accessed from, the rear and/or alley side of 
buildings.

52

Item 4.



26-197 Building FunctionsCharacter Districts

81May 2021 Planning & Zoning Commission 
Recommended Draft

Section 26-197. Building Functions
A. Permitted Uses

1. All uses are classified and defined in Sections 26-140.

2. Permitted uses by building form standard frontage are shown 
in Section C. Use Table, below. All uses not expressly permitted are 
prohibited. 

3. All uses must meet the standards of the applicable building form 
standard in Section 26-193. Any additional development or 
performance standards are indicated in the Section C. Use Table and 
provided in Sections D.-H. below.

B. Accessory Uses and Structures

1. Home occupations, as defined in this chapter, are permitted.

2. The following accessory uses are limited to owner-occupied single-
unit dwellings, regardless of the applicable building form standard 
frontage. 
a. Accessory dwelling units (ADUs)
b. Bed & Breakfast Establishments
c. Day Care Homes

3. Accessory structures are permitted within the buildable area of the lot, 
as designated in the applicable individual building form standard.

4. Parking is permitted within the location parameters identified on the 
regulating plan and applicable individual building form standard.

Character District Sections:    
26-191 to 26-198
191. Introduction 

192. Regulating Plans 

193. Building Form Standards 

194. Architectural Standards

195. Public Realm Standards

196. Parking & Loading

197. Building Functions

198. Reserved 

199. Reserved

53

Item 4.



26-197 Building Functions Character Districts

82 May 2021Planning & Zoning Commission 
Recommended Draft

C. Use Table
This table identifies the categories of uses allowed in the ground story and upper stories for each building form 
standard frontage; however, some specific uses may be restricted or prohibited. All uses must comply with any other 
applicable standards in this Zoning Code. Additional regulations specific to the Downtown Character District are 
referenced in the right-hand column.

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

 G
ro

un
d 

St
or

y

 U
pp

er
 S

to
ry

Section E.
Household Living X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and E.1-4
Group Living X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and E.1-6

Section F.
Amusement & Recreation X X X X X Sec. D. and F.1.
Animal Sales & Service X X X X X Sec. D. and F.2.
Commerical Assembly X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.1.
Eating & Drinking Establishments X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.3.
Financial Services X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.4.
Gas Station/Accessory Repair X X Sec. D. and F.5.
Heavy Commercial X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.6.
Lodging X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.7.
Office X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.8.
Parking, Commercial X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.9.
Retail Sales & Service X X X X X X Sec. D. and F.10.
Self-service storage X X X Sec. D. and F.5.
Vehicle Sales & Service X X X X X Sec. D. and F.4.

Section G.
Civic & Cultural Assembly X X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and G.1.
Community Services Sec. D
Colleges & Unversities Sec. D.
Day Care X X X X X X X X X Sec. D. and G.2.
Educational X X X X X X X X X Sec. D.
Government & Public Safety X X X X X Sec. D.
Health Care X X X X X Sec. D.

Sec. D. and H.

DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICT USE TABLE
BUILDING FORM FRONTAGES

USE CATEGORY
Additional 

Regulations

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
M

ed
iu

m

G
en

er
al

 U
rb

an

St
or

ef
ro

nt

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Sm

al
l

X

G
en

er
al

 U
rb

an
 2

Key:  X= Permitted, Additional Regulations Apply     Blank Cell = Not Permitted 
INDUSTRIAL, WHOLESALE, & STORAGE

RESIDENTIAL 

COMMERCIAL  

CIVIC & INSTITUTIONAL

54

Item 4.



26-197 Building FunctionsCharacter Districts

83May 2021 Planning & Zoning Commission 
Recommended Draft

D. General Development and Performance Standards
The following standards apply to all Character District frontages and use categories.

1. All permitted uses shall meet the Section 26-193. Building Form Standard General Provisions and those standards 
specified in the applicable individual building form standard (bfs) pages.  

2. No civic, commercial, or institutional use is permitted above a residential use.

3. Businesses providing drive-through services shall not have a drive-through lane or service window that abuts or 
faces a street-space. 

4. Drive-through services are prohibited in Storefront frontage sites.

5. For duplexes, multi-unit dwellings, and dwellings in mixed-use buildings, no more than three bedrooms are 
permitted per unit.

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of any other section of this article, no existing single-unit residential structure 
located in the Character District shall be converted or otherwise structurally altered or expanded for the purpose 
of accommodating the creation or establishment of a second separate dwelling unit within, around or adjacent to 
the original single-unit residential structure, except for ADUs, as defined and permitted herein.

7. All use-specific state or local certifications, permits, and licenses apply.

8. No smoke, radiation, vibration or concussion, excessive noise, heat or glare shall be produced that is perceptible 
outside a building, and no dust, fly ash or gas that is toxic, caustic or obviously injurious to humans or property 
shall be produced. 

E. Residential Uses – Development and Performance Standards

1. See the General Urban and General Urban 2 building form standard frontages for configuration requirements 
for ground story Residential uses.

2. A lobby serving an upper story Residential use is permitted on the ground story within the shopfront space of 
a Storefront frontage site.

3. Residential dwelling units are not permitted within the required minimum depth for the shopfront space in a 
Storefront frontage site.

4. Mobile home parks are prohibited.   

5. Fraternity and Sorority uses are prohibited.   

6. Group Homes and Assisted Group Living uses are subject to all Iowa law requirements and certifications.

F. Commercial Uses – Development and Performance Standards

1. Amusement and Recreation, Commercial Assembly
a. Only Indoor Amusement and Recreation uses are permitted.
b. Adult Entertainment is prohibited.
c. Theater, Auditorium, and Arena uses shall meet the ground story fenestration requirements of the 

applicable building form standard, but are exempt from the upper story fenestration requirements.
d. The lobby serving a Commercial Assembly or Indoor Amusement and Recreation use is permitted in the 

shopfront area of a Storefront frontage.

2. Animal Sales and Service
No outdoor kennels, play, or exercise areas are permitted.

3. Eating and Drinking Establishments 

55

Item 4.



26-197 Building FunctionsCharacter Districts

85May 2021 Planning & Zoning Commission 
Recommended Draft

c. A lobby serving an upper story overnight lodging use is permitted on the ground story of any Storefront 
frontage site. 

d. Bed & Breakfast establishments are permitted as accessory uses to owner-occupied houses in Neighborhood 
frontages. No other overnight lodging is permitted in these frontages.

8. Office
a. Office uses are not permitted within the required minimum depth for the shopfront space in a Storefront 

frontage site.
b. Office uses that exist in Neighborhood frontages as of January 1, 2021 are permitted and considered 

conforming uses. Changes to existing uses shall be in compliance with the standards and requirements of this 
chapter. The establishment of new Office uses or structures not in association with an existing conforming use 
or structure is prohibited.

9. Parking, Commercial
Commercial parking lots and structures are required to meet all building form standards for the frontage sites 
on which they are located.

10. Retail Sales and Services
a. A retail sales use is permitted in the second story of a Storefront or General Urban frontage site provided it is 

an extension equal to or less than the area of the same ground story use. 
b. No merchandise (including motorcycles, scooters, and automobiles) may be left within the dooryard when 

the business is not open.
c. Only retail sales or gallery/showroom functions for Cottage Industries are permitted in the required minimum 

shopfront space of a Storefront frontage.

11. Vehicle Sales and Service (see Gas Stations, above)

G. Civic and Institutional Uses – Development and Performance Standards

1. Civic buildings designed for civic uses (as defined in Section 26-191. Definitions) that are located on sites 
specifically designated on the regulating plan are not subject to Section 26-194. Architectural Standards or 
Section 26-193. Building Form Standards except for Section 26-193.1.E. Neighborhood Manners.

2. Day Care
a. All day care facilities are subject to all permitting and licensing requirements under Iowa Law.
b. Only Day Care Homes are permitted as accessory uses in Neighborhood frontages. 

H. Industrial, Wholesale, and Storage Uses – Development and Performance Standards
Industrial Manufacturing, Assembly, or Processing facilities that exist as of January 1, 2021 are permitted and 
considered conforming uses. Changes to existing uses shall be in compliance with the standards and requirements of 
this chapter. The establishment of new Industrial, Wholesale, and Storage uses or structures not in association with an 
existing conforming use or structure is prohibited.

56

Item 4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cedar Falls Downtown Zoning Code Update 

Administrative Procedures 
 

 

 

 

Planning & Zoning Commission Recommended Draft 

May 12, 2021 

  

57

Item 4.



2 
 

CONTENTS 

Sec. 26-36 Administrative Determination ................................................................................ 4 

(a) Applicability .................................................................................................................. 4 

(b) Application ................................................................................................................... 4 

(c) Review, Referral, and Recommendation ...................................................................... 4 

(d) Review and Decision-Making ....................................................................................... 5 

(e) Appeal ......................................................................................................................... 5 

Sec. 26-37 Site Plan ............................................................................................................... 5 

(a) Applicability .................................................................................................................. 5 

(b) Authority ...................................................................................................................... 5 

(1) Character Districts .................................................................................................... 5 

(2) Traditional Zone Districts .......................................................................................... 5 

(c) Application Procedures ................................................................................................ 5 

(d) Decision Criteria .......................................................................................................... 6 

(e) Limitation of Approval .................................................................................................. 6 

(f) Effect ............................................................................................................................... 6 

(g) Post-Approval Actions .................................................................................................. 6 

(1) Expiration ................................................................................................................. 6 

(2) Modifications to Site plans ........................................................................................ 6 

Sec. 26-38 Proportionate Compliance..................................................................................... 6 

(a) Applicability .................................................................................................................. 6 

(1) Purpose .................................................................................................................... 6 

(2) No New or Increased Noncompliance ...................................................................... 7 

(3) Development Standards in Character Districts ......................................................... 7 

(4) Required Parking ...................................................................................................... 7 

(b) Calculating Proportionate Compliance ......................................................................... 7 

(c) Measuring Required Compliance ................................................................................10 

(1) New Development ...................................................................................................10 

(2) Façade Changes: ....................................................................................................10 

(3) Redevelopment: ......................................................................................................10 

(4) Expansion of Parking Area ......................................................................................11 

(d) Ten-Year Timeframe ...................................................................................................11 

Sec. 26-39 Minor Adjustments for development in character districts ....................................11 

(a) Applicability .................................................................................................................11 

(b) Procedures .................................................................................................................11 

58

Item 4.



3 
 

(1) Application ...............................................................................................................11 

(2) Specific Procedures ................................................................................................11 

(c) Permitted Type and Scope of Minor Adjustments........................................................11 

(1) Specific Building Form Standards ............................................................................11 

(2) Section 26-194, Approval of Equivalent or Better Synthetic Materials ......................12 

(3) Section 26-193.1.A.6 Non-Alley Curb Cut................................................................13 

(d) Decision Criteria .........................................................................................................13 

(1) Anticipatory Site-Specific Issues Only .....................................................................13 

(2) Anticipatory Site-Specific Issues and Minor Construction Issues .............................13 

(e) Review and Decision-Making ......................................................................................13 

 

  

59

Item 4.



4 
 

Amend Sec. 26-2. – Definitions, as follows: 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning. 
The word "used" or "occupied" includes the words "intended, designed or arranged to be used 
or occupied."  All terms that define or name a City department or City office title also include the 
phrase “or designee.” 

SEC. 26-36 ADMINISTRATIVE DETERMINATION 

(A) APPLICABILITY 
The Zoning Administrator shall review and decide upon applications for the following 
administrative reviews and code adjustments in consultation with the Zoning Review 
Committee(ZRC) and/or the staff Technical Review Committee, as applicable. Some of 
these processes have additional review and approval requirements; a cross-reference to 
those requirements is provided in the right column.  

Permit or Adjustment Additional Review Requirements 
Site Plan Section 26-37.D 

Proportionate Compliance n/a 

Minor Adjustment Section 26-39.E 

 

(B) APPLICATION  

(1) Applications shall not be processed until all materials have been submitted and are 
deemed sufficient in form and content such that recommendations, as required, and a 
decision may be made on the application by the Zoning Administrator, or other 
decision-making body, as specified in this chapter. The Zoning Administrator shall 
determine application sufficiency.  

(2) If an application is deemed insufficient, the Zoning Administrator shall inform the 
applicant of the specific submittal requirements that have not been met. The Zoning 
Administrator may provide notice in writing, electronically, or in conversation with the 
applicant.   

(3) If an application is deemed insufficient, the applicant must resolve and resubmit the 
materials required to complete the application within 30 days of the date informed of 
the insufficiency of the application.  

a. An insufficient application that has not been revised to meet the completeness 
requirements shall expire on the 30th day.  An expired application shall be 
returned to the applicant along with any original documents submitted in support 
of the application.  

b. The City, at its discretion, may retain the application fee paid. Once an application 
has expired, the application must be resubmitted in full, including application fee. 

(C) REVIEW, REFERRAL, AND RECOMMENDATION 

(1) Upon submission of an application, the Zoning Administrator shall review the 
application and accompanying documentation to determine whether the information 
included in the application is sufficient to evaluate the application against the approval 
criteria of the procedure or permit requested. 

(2) The Zoning Administrator may refer any application to the Zoning Review Committee 
(ZRC) or Technical Review Committee (TRC) for review and recommendation.  

60

Item 4.



5 
 

(D) REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING 

(1) The Zoning Administrator shall review the application for conformance with all 
applicable provisions of this chapter.  

(2) To be approved, an application shall be fully consistent with the standards of this 
chapter unless a minor adjustment is concurrently approved to allow specified 
deviation from applicable standards. An administrative approval may include 
instructions and clarifications regarding compliance with this Code, but shall not be 
approved with conditions that require action beyond the specific requirements of the 
City Code of Ordinances.   

(3) The Zoning Administrator shall approve or deny the application and provide written 
notification of the decision to the applicant. If an application is denied, the written 
notification shall include the reasons for denial. 

(E) APPEAL 
Administrative determinations are appealable pursuant to Section 26-62. 

SEC. 26-37 SITE PLAN  

(A) APPLICABILITY 
The purpose of this section is to set forth the procedures and criteria for review and 
approval of site plans. Site plans are technical documents that illustrate how the 
structure(s), layout of an area, and proposed uses meet the requirements of this chapter 
and any other applicable ordinances, standards, regulations, and with all previously 
approved plans applicable to the property.  

(B) AUTHORITY 
A site plan is required for: 

(1) Character Districts 

a. Any application for development in a character district. 

b. All requests for structures, architectural elements or accessory structures (front 
porch, front yard fence) at or forward of the required building line, and accessory 
or temporary uses; however, for minor accessory structures not located forward of 
the required building line, such as sheds, fences, or decks, the site plan shall only 
be required to show the location of the proposed structure or addition in relation to 
property boundaries, required setbacks, easements, and terrain changes as more 
fully detailed in this Code; 

(2) Traditional Zone Districts  

a. Any application for a commercial, industrial, institutional, or multi-unit dwelling 
project;  

b. Any application for development requiring site plan review as set forth elsewhere 
in this chapter.  

(C) APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

(1) A pre-application meeting with the Zoning Review Committee (ZRC) is required prior 
to the submission of a site plan application for development in a character district. Pre-
application meetings are optional and encouraged for all other applications. 

(2) The applicant shall submit the site plan application to the Planning and Community 
Services Division. Application submittal deadlines and requirements shall be 

61

Item 4.



6 
 

established on submittal forms available from the Planning and Community Services 
Division and on the City’s website.   

(D) DECISION CRITERIA 
The site plan shall be reviewed against the following criteria:  

(1) The site plan is consistent with all applicable adopted plans and policies; 

(2) The site plan is consistent with any prior approvals, including any conditions that may 
have been placed on such approvals; and  

(3) The site plan conforms with all applicable requirements of the Code of Ordinances, or 
with all applicable requirements as modified by a request for a minor adjustment. 

(E) LIMITATION OF APPROVAL 
Zoning Administrator approval of a site plan does not in any way imply approval by any 
other City department. 

(F) EFFECT 

(1) Approved site plans shall be binding upon the property owner(s) and their successors 
and assigns.   

(2) No permit shall be issued for any building, structure, or use that does not conform to 
an approved site plan.   

(3) No building, structure, use or other element of the approved site plan shall be modified 
without amending the site plan, unless it is determined by the City that such 
modification will not require an amended site plan.   

(4) All buildings, structures and uses shall remain in conformance with the approved site 
plan or be subject to enforcement action. 

(G) POST-APPROVAL ACTIONS 

(1) Expiration  

a. Approved site plans shall expire one year after approval if a building permit has 
not been issued, or the approved use established. In the event that the 
documents expire due to the passage of this time period, new site plan review 
documents must be submitted for approval in the same manner as an original 
application for development review.   

b. An extension not to exceed one year may be granted by the Zoning Administrator. 

(2) Modifications to Site plans  

The holder of an approved site plan may request an adjustment to the document, or 
the conditions of approval, by submitting either an application for minor adjustment or 
an amended site plan, whichever is appropriate, to the Zoning Administrator. An 
amended site plan shall be filed and processed in accordance with the procedures for 
an initial site plan submittal. 

SEC. 26-38 PROPORTIONATE COMPLIANCE 

(A) APPLICABILITY  

(1) Purpose 

To encourage redevelopment, continuing property investment, and infill development, 
it may be necessary to determine site appropriate adjustments to applicable 
development standards that will allow the development to take place while applying 

62

Item 4.



7 
 

proportional development standards.  This section identifies the process for 
determining specific site compliance with a proportionate standard. 

(2) No New or Increased Noncompliance 

Any redevelopment of a structure or site shall be designed to either increase 
conformance with this Code or, at a minimum, not increase an existing nonconformity. 
Redevelopment shall not establish new nonconformity(ies) with this Code, regardless 
of the applicability of this section. 

(3) Development Standards in Character Districts 

A request for proportionate compliance is limited to Character District development 
standards listed in Table 26-38.1. 

(4) Required Parking 

The standards of Sec. 26-196, Character District Parking and Loading, shall apply for 
any new use, change of use, or expansion of a current use within a Character District, 
and are not subject to adjustment through proportionate compliance. 

(B) CALCULATING PROPORTIONATE COMPLIANCE 

(1) Requests for proportionate compliance shall be made through Section 26-37, Site 
Plan.  

(2) Proportionate compliance for standards applicable to a specific development or 
structure type may be requested for development changes listed in Table 26-38.1 
according to Section 26-38(E), below.   

a. Standards that must be fully complied with are marked with an /X/. 

b. Standards that will be applied to the maximum extent practicable based on a site-
specific determination are marked with an /S/. 

(3) Applicants shall clearly label all requested adjustments and identify the applicable 
standard in this section that allows the proposed adjustment. 

 

63

Item 4.



 

Table 26-38.1: Proportionate Compliance 

ALL FRONTAGE TYPES 

BUILDING FORM STANDARDS ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS 

PUBLIC 
REALM 

STANDARDS 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

R
e
q

u
ir

e
d

 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 L
in

e
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

B
u

il
d

a
b

le
 

A
re

a
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

P
a
rk

in
g

 

S
e
tb

a
c

k
 L

in
e

 

H
e
ig

h
t:

 

M
in

im
u

m
/ 

M
a
x
im

u
m

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
e
n

e
s
tr

a
ti

o
n

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
a
ç
a
d

e
 

P
ro

je
c
ti

o
n

s
 

U
s
e
s

 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
 M

a
n

n
e
rs

 

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

 

C
o

n
fi

g
u

ra
ti

o

n
s
 

S
ig

n
s

 

R
O

W
 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e
 

A
re

a
 

D
o

o
ry

a
rd

 

 Key: X = compliance with standard is required  S = site-specific determination 

Full Compliance: Entire Structure Must Comply with Standards 

New Construction X X X Both X X X X X X X X X 

Expansion of Building Area              

For buildings < 2000 sf GFA,  
an expansion > 75% 

X X X Both X X X X X X X X X 

For buildings 2000 sf GFA,  
an expansion > 66% 

X X X Both X X X X X X X X X 

New, Expanded, or Relocated Parking 
Area 

  X           

Changes with No Building Expansion 

Change of use 
      

X 
   

X [3] 
  

Façade changes [1] 
    

X X 
  

X X X [3] 
  

Expansion of Building Area (GFA) for Buildings < 2000 sf 

Minimal Change: 0 to 40% 
 

X X Max 
  

X X X 
  

X S 

Proportionate Change:41% to 75% [2] 
 

X X Max X 
 

X X X 
  

X X 

Façade Changes [1] 
    

X X 
  

X X X [3] 
  

Expansion of Building Area (GFA) for Building 2000 sf or more 

Minimal Change: 0 to 20% 
 

X X Max 
  

X X X 
  

X S 

Proportionate Change: 21 to 66% [2] 
 

X X Max X 
 

X X X 
  

X X 

Façade Changes [1] 
    

X X 
  

X X X [3] 
  

Expansion of Parking Area 
  

X 
    

X 
     

[1] Major façade changes (as defined in Section 26-62(E)(3)) will trigger compliance with the standards marked in this row. 
[2] Expansion area shall comply with identified development standards. 

64

Item 4.



9 
 

Table 26-38.1: Proportionate Compliance 

ALL FRONTAGE TYPES 

BUILDING FORM STANDARDS ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS 

PUBLIC 
REALM 

STANDARDS 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

R
e
q

u
ir

e
d

 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 L
in

e
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

B
u

il
d

a
b

le
 

A
re

a
 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

t:
 

P
a
rk

in
g

 

S
e
tb

a
c

k
 L

in
e

 

H
e
ig

h
t:

 

M
in

im
u

m
/ 

M
a
x
im

u
m

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
e
n

e
s
tr

a
ti

o
n

 

E
le

m
e
n

ts
: 

F
a
ç
a
d

e
 

P
ro

je
c
ti

o
n

s
 

U
s
e
s

 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
 M

a
n

n
e
rs

 

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

 

C
o

n
fi

g
u

ra
ti

o

n
s
 

S
ig

n
s

 

R
O

W
 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e
 

A
re

a
 

D
o

o
ry

a
rd

 

 Key: X = compliance with standard is required  S = site-specific determination 

[3] Where a use or façade change results in new signage, changes to a sign structure, relocation of an existing sign, or changes to the sign area of an existing 
sign. 

65

Item 4.



 

(C) MEASURING REQUIRED COMPLIANCE 

(1) New Development  

New development shall comply fully with the applicable development standards. 

(2) Façade Changes: 

Where development changes are limited to the façade of a structure, the following 
standards shall apply: 

a. Maintenance or Minimal Change: Normal maintenance and façade changes that 
do not qualify as major changes shall not be required to comply with the qualified 
development standards. Individual façade element changes shall be made in 
compliance with applicable Elements and Architectural development standards 
applicable to that individual element to the maximum extent possible. 

b. Major Façade Changes: Façade changes that include any of the following are 
considered major changes and the façade shall be brought into full compliance 
with the Elements and Architectural development standards: 

1. Removing or changing architectural detailing that is consistent with and 

integral to the style and period of the building;  

2. Changing or adding architectural detailing that is inconsistent with the 

standards of this Code; 

3. Change to more than 50% of the surface area of the façade, measured by 

including all openings such as doors and windows;  

4. Altering, closing, or covering windows, doors, or transoms; or 

5. Any roof or wall structure reframing, including adding fenestration. 

(3) Redevelopment:  

a. Minimal Change. Redevelopment that changes or increases the total gross floor 
area of a structure within the range identified in Table 26-38.1, as determined by 
the building permit application, shall comply with the standards identified in Row A 
as applicable to development with minimal change. 

b. Proportionate Change. Redevelopment that changes or increases the total gross 
floor area of a structure within the range identified in Table 26-38.1, as 
determined by the building permit application, shall comply with the standards 
identified in Row B as applicable to development with proportionate change.   

c. Full Compliance. Redevelopment that changes or increases the total gross floor 
area of a structure within the range identified in Table 26-38.1, as determined by 
the building permit application, shall be required to fully comply with these 
standards. 

d. Measurement is based on changes to an individual structure that is subject to 
improvements, regardless of the total number of structures on the site. 

66

Item 4.



11 
 

(4) Expansion of Parking Area 

Expansion of a parking area is defined as the addition of any parking spaces or the 
restriping or reconfiguration of more than 50% of the surface area of an existing 
parking area. 

(D) TEN-YEAR TIMEFRAME 
Any application by property owners to expand or replace part of an existing structure shall 
remain on record for 10 years from the date of work completion. Any subsequent 
application to expand or replace part of an existing structure shall be cumulative to any 
requests made within the previous 10 years. The total shall be used by the City to 
determine the property owner’s necessary level of compliance. 

 

SEC. 26-39 MINOR ADJUSTMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT IN CHARACTER 

DISTRICTS 

(A) APPLICABILITY 

(1) A minor adjustment allows the modification of an existing numeric dimensional 
standard in a character district to accommodate: 

a. Anticipatory site-specific issues, or  

b. Minor construction issues.  

(2) Minor adjustments are applicable to new development, redevelopment, and major 
façade changes. 

(3) A minor adjustment may be requested either as part of an original application or as a 
modification to an existing approval.   

(B) PROCEDURES 

(1) Application 

Applications for minor adjustments shall be submitted on forms required by the City. 
Supporting materials must be submitted as specified on the application form.  

(2) Specific Procedures  

All applications for minor adjustment shall identify the specific issue that the minor 
adjustment is intended to address and how the minor adjustment will resolve that 
issue: 

a. A request for minor adjustment prior to issuance of a building permit shall be 
submitted with the project site plan application.   

b. A request for minor adjustment to address a minor construction issue shall be 
submitted with the approved project site plan, a written description of the minor 
construction issue, and an amended drawing of that part of the site for which the 
minor adjustment is requested. 

(C) PERMITTED TYPE AND SCOPE OF MINOR ADJUSTMENTS  

(1) Specific Building Form Standards 

The Zoning Administrator, after consulting with the ZRC, may grant minor adjustments 
as necessary up to the following maximum adjustments:   

a. Height 

67

Item 4.



12 
 

1. Minimum and maximum height - up to 5% for any cumulative increase or 

decrease in building height. 

2. Street wall/fence requirements – up to 10%. 

3. Finished ground floor elevation – up to 5%; upper floor elevation(s) shall be 

adjusted accordingly.  

4. Finished ground floor elevation, flood hazard area – minor adjustments to 

finished ground floor elevation requirements necessary to meet lowest floor 

elevation requirements according to the applicable floodplain regulations. 

Upper floor elevation(s) shall be adjusted accordingly. The Zoning 

Administrator does not have the authority to issue permits for special 

exceptions or variances to flood hazard regulations.  

5. When the finished ground floor elevation is not subject to adjustment, upper 

floor finished elevation(s) may be adjusted up to one foot. 

b. Placement 

1. Required building line (RBL) – adjust forward up to 6 inches; may not 

encroach into the public right-of-way. 

2. Required building line minimum percentage built-to – reduction of up to 5% of 

required length. 

3. Parking setback line – move forward up to 6 feet; provided, the parking 

setback line remains separated at least 20 feet from the RBL.   

4. Mezzanine floor area – up to 10% additional area. 

5. Street wall requirements – up to 10% of the height/fenestration/access gate 

requirements. 

6. Entrances (maximum average spacing) – up to 10% increase in spacing. 

c. Elements 

1. Fenestration (minimum and maximum percent) – up to 5%. 

2. Other elements (minimum and maximum projections) – up to 5%. 

(2) Section 26-194, Approval of Equivalent or Better Synthetic Materials 

a. Reflecting that the technology and production of building materials is constantly 
changing, an applicant may request that a material be added to the applicable 
approved materials list, provided:  

1. The material is not included in the applicable prohibited materials list; and 

2. The proposed material is similar to a permitted material and is equal to or 

better than the permitted material in terms of quality, maintenance, and 

durability as shown by the manufacturer’s specifications and industry studies.  

For example, a new generation of cementitious fiber siding may be 

substituted for wood clapboard siding.  

b. The Zoning Administrator shall maintain a list of approved materials. Materials 
included on the approved list may be used for later projects without further ZRC 
review. 

68

Item 4.



13 
 

(3) Section 26-193.1.A.6 Non-Alley Curb Cut 

If vehicular access to a rear alley or private rear drive is not available, an applicant 
may request a minor adjustment to permit driveway access directly from a public 
street. Shared access or cross access with abutting lots may be required and any 
driveway spacing requirements shall apply. The width and location of the driveway 
access point shall be determined by the Zoning Administrator, after consulting with the 
ZRC and the City Engineer. The pavement width forward of the Parking Setback Line 
shall be 18 feet or less.  

(D) DECISION CRITERIA 
The ZRC shall consider the following provisions in making a determination on a minor 
adjustment request. When the minor adjustment is sought prior to the issuance of a 
building permit, the application must meet all five criteria in Sections (E)(1) and (E)(2). 
When a minor adjustment is sought to address a minor construction issue, the application 
only needs to comply with the criteria in Section (E)(2). 

(1) Anticipatory Site-Specific Issues Only 

a. The proposed structure or site feature is permitted in the character district.  

b. The minor adjustment allows development that is consistent or compatible with 
the intent and purpose of the Character District and the regulation modified.  

c. The impact of the minor adjustment is internal to the subject property and will not 
impede the normal and orderly development or improvement of adjacent 
properties.  

(2) Anticipatory Site-Specific Issues and Minor Construction Issues  

a. There are special circumstances existing on the property for which the application 
is made related to size, shape, area, topography, surrounding conditions, and/or 
location that make it practically difficult to meet the standard or requirement. 

b. The minor adjustment is necessary to permit the applicant the same ability to use 
the property that is enjoyed under this Code by other properties in the vicinity and 
Character District, but which are limited or denied to the subject property based 
on the applicability of the regulation sought to be adjusted. 

(E) REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING 
Minor adjustments are processed as an administrative review decided by the Zoning 
Administrator upon consultation with the ZRC.   

 

69

Item 4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cedar Falls Downtown Zoning Code Update 

Use Category Descriptions and Use Definitions 

 

 

Planning & Zoning Commission Recommended Draft 

May 12, 2021 

 

  

70

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  2 

 

Contents 

Section 26-140: Use-Specific Standards ........................................................................................ 3 

(a) Use Classification Organization and Interpretation ........................................................ 3 

(1) Organization ............................................................................................................. 3 

(2) Use-Specific Standards ............................................................................................ 4 

(3) Classification ............................................................................................................ 4 

(b) Use Classification Category Descriptions ......................................................................... 6 

(1) Residential Uses ...................................................................................................... 6 

(2) Civic and Institutional Uses ...................................................................................... 8 

(3) Commercial Uses ....................................................................................................12 

(4) Industrial Uses.........................................................................................................17 

(5) Transportation, Utilities, and Communication ..........................................................19 

(6) Agricultural Uses .....................................................................................................20 

 

  

71

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  3 

 

Section 26-140: Use-Specific Standards 

When reference is made to a group of zone districts, the following individual districts shall 

be included: 

District Groupings Used in this Section 

Residential R-1SU, R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, R-5, R-P 

Mixed-Use  MU 

Commercial S-1, C-1, C-2, C3, MPC, BR, PO-1, HWY-1, PC-2 

Character District 
Frontage 
Designations 

Urban General, Urban General 2, Storefront, Neighborhood Medium, 
Neighborhood Small 

Industrial M-1, M-2, M-1-P, M-2-P 

Overlay HCG, CHN, HWY-20  

Public P 

Agricultural A1 

 

(a) Use Classification Organization and Interpretation 

(1) Organization 

a. Land uses are assigned to the use category that most closely describes the 

nature of the principal use. Some categories are further divided into 

subcategories.  

b. A number of the most common uses are listed under the "Examples" 

subsection for each use category. The examples are generic and may be used 

in the process of interpreting new uses. Example lists are not exhaustive. 

c. In some cases, developments may have more than one principal use.  

1. When all of the principal uses of a development fall within one use 

category, then the entire development is assigned to that use category. 

All uses are subject to any applicable use-specific standards.  

2. When the principal uses of a development fall within different use 

categories, each principal use is classified into the applicable use 

category and each use is subject to all applicable regulations for the use 

category.  

3. A use that is otherwise not permitted in a district may not be included 

as one of multiple principal uses through interpretation. For example, if 

colleges and universities are not permitted in a residential district, that 

72

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  4 

district may not be interpreted to allow both residences and colleges as 

multiple principal uses.  

d. Developments may have one or more accessory uses or structures. 

1. A list of accessory uses commonly associated with a particular use 

category is included under a paragraph entitled, "Accessory Uses and 

Structures." The examples are generic and may be used in the process 

of interpreting new uses. Accessory uses are subject to all applicable 

regulations. Example lists are not exhaustive.  

2. Uses are categorized as accessory or principal as determined by the 

circumstances of the use on the site. A cafeteria may be an accessory 

use to a principal industrial use, while a restaurant may be a principal 

use. 

e. Prohibited uses: Some uses are prohibited in individual zone districts, as 

noted in that district. 

f. Excluded uses: Some of the use categories may contain excluded uses. These 

are uses that may seem to be part of a particular category, but which are 

explicitly classified into a different use category.  

(2) Use-Specific Standards 

a. All uses shall comply with any applicable use-specific standards. 

b. Uses located in character districts shall comply with the applicable site and 

structure standards of that district. 

c. When a use is changed on a property, the new use shall comply with all 

applicable use-specific and site-specific standards. Changing from one use 

category or use subcategory to another is considered a change of use. 

(3) Classification 

a. For uses not listed as examples, the Zoning Administrator shall consider the 

following list of factors when classifying a use into a particular category, 

and/or to determine whether the activities constitute principal uses or 

accessory uses: 

1. How closely the use matches the description of the use category, as 

stated in Section 26-132(b); 

2. The intensity of the activity or use in comparison to the stated 

characteristics of a use category and list of examples;  

73

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  5 

3. Conformance with the currently adopted comprehensive plan and 

purpose of the zoning district in which the use is proposed; 

4. Types of vehicles, equipment and/or processes to be used;  

5. The amount of site or floor area and equipment devoted to the use or 

activity;  

6. The hours of operation;  

7. How the use advertises itself;  

8. Number of employees, visitors, or customers generated;  

9. Parking demands associated with the use; and 

10. Special public utility requirements for serving the proposed use type, 

including, but not limited to, electricity, water supply, wastewater 

output, pre-treatment of wastes and emissions required or 

recommended, and any significant power structures or infrastructure 

and communications towers or facilities;  

11. Whether the use or activity would be likely to be found independent of 

the other activities on the site;  

12. Whether a use is subordinate in area, extent, or purpose to the principal 

building or use served; 

13. Whether the use contributes to the comfort, convenience, or necessity 

of occupants, customers, or employees of a principal use; 

14. Any other relevant evidence regarding use or activity that would help to 

classify a particular land use.  

b. If, based on the criteria identified above, the Zoning Administrator determines 

that a use can reasonably be determined to be similar to more than one use 

or category of uses, the Zoning Administrator in consultation with the Zoning 

Review Committee or other appropriate city staff shall select the use category 

that provides the most exact, narrowest, and appropriate fit. 

c. The following categories of uses typically impose substantial impacts on a 

site, adjacent sites and structures, pedestrians or cyclists, the road network, 

or public infrastructure. Where a new use, not listed as an example, is 

proposed that might be categorized into one of these categories, the 

applicant shall file an application for text amendment to determine if the use 

will be permitted. Through this process, the City will have the opportunity to 

review and determine the impacts of the proposed use and establish any 

prescribed conditions that may be appropriate to allowing the use. 

74

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  6 

1. Agricultural Uses  

2. Industrial Services 

3. Manufacturing, Processing, and Assembly 

4. Waste and Salvage 

d. Determination of Non-Similarity  

1. The Zoning Administrator may determine that a proposed use is not 

substantially similar to any use identified in Section 26-197 or Table 26-

231.1 because either: 

(i) The potential impacts of the use are significantly more impactful on 

the site, street, or neighborhood, than other permitted uses in the 

same use category and that the use would not otherwise be 

permitted without prescribed conditions or through a public review 

process, or  

(ii) There are no similar uses permitted on the site or in the applicable 

zone district. 

2. When this is the case, the Zoning Administrator shall provide the 

applicant with a written determination of non-similarity within 15 

business days of the request for interpretation.  

e. In cases of dispute, the Zoning Administrator shall issue a zoning 

determination letter and the proposed use shall comply with any conditions 

and review procedures that may apply to that use. Such determinations may 

be appealed to the Board of Adjustment. If an appeal is made, the Board of 

Adjustment shall determine whether the City has made an error in classifying 

the subject use based on the facts in evidence and the factors listed in 

paragraph a. above.  

f. Post-Decision Actions 

1. A Zoning Administrator’s written determination regarding classification 

may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment, or 

2. An applicant may apply for a zoning code text amendment. 

(b) Use Classification Category Descriptions 

(1) Residential Uses 

a. General Description: Residential uses offering habitation of a dwelling on a 

continuous basis. The continuous basis is established by tenancy with a 

minimum term of one month or habitation by the property owner.  

75

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  7 

b. Use Categories 

1. Household Living: This use category is characterized by residential 

occupancy of a dwelling unit by one or more persons living together as 

a single housekeeping unit. A household typically includes four or fewer 

adults. Each dwelling unit contains its own facilities for living, sleeping, 

cooking and eating meals. Uses where tenancy may be arranged for a 

period of less than one month are not considered residential, they are 

considered to be a form of transient lodging. Household living also 

include group homes, which is a category of household living that 

receives equal treatment with single-household residential living 

pursuant to Iowa and federal law.  

(i) Sub-categories 

(a) Group Homes, as defined by Iowa law: elder family homes, elder 

group homes, and family care homes. Large group care facilities 

that provide housing for nine or more individuals are considered 

Group Living Uses.  

(b) Single-unit dwellings, detached: A residential building containing 

one principal dwelling unit. Each unit is located on a separate, 

legal lot, except for cottages within a cottage court, as defined 

and regulated within a character district. Examples include 

detached houses, zero lot line dwellings, cottages, and 

manufactured homes,1 provided the manufactured home 

complies with the district standards and has been converted to 

real property and taxed as a site-built dwelling.  

(c) Single-unit dwellings, attached: A residential building containing 

more than one principal dwelling unit, with each dwelling unit 

sharing one or more common walls with at least one other 

dwelling unit, no unit is located above another unit, and each 

unit is located on a separate, legal lot. Examples include 

townhome/rowhouse, and bi-attached dwellings.  

(d) Two-unit dwellings (also called duplexes): A residential building 

containing two principal dwelling units located on one lot.  

(e) Multi-unit dwellings: A residential building containing three or 

more principal dwelling units located on one lot. Examples 

include apartment buildings, condominium buildings, 

                                                        
1 Drafting note: discuss including permissible minimum unit width; compare with provisions in factory-

built housing section and update both as needed.  

76

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  8 

rowhouse/townhome configurations with multiple side-by-side 

dwelling units on one lot. 

(f) Dwelling(s) in Mixed-Use Structure: A building, or portion of a 

building, which contains one or more dwelling units in addition 

to commercial or other non-household living uses. Examples 

include  apartments and condominiums. 

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: bed and breakfast establishments, 

storage buildings, accessory dwelling units, residential vehicle 

parking, home occupations, child care home. 

2. Group Living: This use type is characterized by residential occupancy of 

a dwelling or associated group of dwellings by a group of people who 

do not meet the definition of "Household Living".  The size of the group 

residing in the structure is typically larger in size than a single 

household. Group Living Uses contain individual rooming units with 

private or shared bathroom facilities and may also contain shared 

kitchen facilities and/or common dining and meeting areas for 

residents. The residents may or may not receive any combination of 

care, training, or treatment, but those receiving such services must 

reside at the site. Alternatives to incarceration, such as halfway houses, 

where residents are placed in the facility by court order and are under 

supervision of the Department of Corrections, are excluded from this 

category and classified as Detention Facilities.  

(i) Sub-categories 

(a) Assisted group living: nursing and convalescent homes, assisted 

living communities; group care facility. 

(b) Hospice home. 

(c) Independent group living: rooming or boarding houses. 

(d) Fraternal group living: fraternities, sororities, monasteries, 

convents. 

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: Recreational facilities, meeting 

rooms, offices, storage facilities, food preparation and dining 

facilities. 

(2) Civic and Institutional Uses 

a. General Description: Civic and Institutional Uses are public, quasi-public, and 

private non-profit uses that provide unique services that are of benefit to the 

public at-large. 

77

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  9 

b. Use Categories 

1. Civic and Cultural Assembly and Service: Civic and cultural assembly 

and service uses are permanent places where persons regularly 

assemble for religious worship or secular activities, and which are 

maintained and controlled by a body organized to sustain the religious 

or public assembly.  

(i) Sub-categories:  

(a) Community Assembly: Places of community assembly, such as 

libraries, museums, community centers, senior centers, and 

recreation centers that are open and available to the general 

public.  

(b) Human or neighborhood services: Uses that provide non-

commercial activities or support services to individuals or groups 

that are not otherwise defined by this code. Examples include 

food pantries, literacy and language instruction, counseling and 

therapy, and other human service agencies. Social service 

agencies that consist primarily of office and counseling functions 

and operate in a similar fashion to other office uses are classified 

as Office.  

(c) Emergency Shelter: facilities providing emergency temporary 

shelter operated by a public or nonprofit agency, such as 

homeless shelters. 

(d) Religious/Private Group Assembly: Private, non-profit 

membership organizations that provide meeting space and 

facilities for their members. Examples include religious 

institutions and civic and social organizations such as private 

lodges, clubs, fraternal organizations, and similar private, non-

commercial membership organizations.  

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: Non-commercial recreation, food 

preparation and dining facilities; maintenance/storage buildings; 

living quarters for clergy; columbarium; accessory daycare facilities; 

offices; parking  

2. College and University: Public or private colleges, universities, 

business, or technical colleges that offer courses of general or 

specialized study leading to a formal degree and requiring at least a 

high school diploma or equivalent general academic training for 

admission. These uses tend to be in campus-like settings or on multiple 

78

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  10 

blocks. Non-degree granting business, technical, trade, martial arts, 

music, dance, and drama schools/studios are excluded from this 

category and classified as Specialized Educational Facilities.  

(i) Subcategories: 

(a) Private: Private colleges, universities, professional, and technical 

schools. 

(b) Public: Colleges, universities, and professional schools that are 

under state jurisdiction. 

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures:. offices; housing for students; food 

service; laboratories; health and sports facilities; theaters; meeting 

areas; parking; maintenance facilities. 

3. Day Care: A non-residential facility that provides less than 24-hour-per-

day care or supervision for children and adults according to Iowa 

statutory requirements. Examples: childcare center, adult daycare 

center; preschools and latch key programs not accessory to an 

Educational Facility Use or other principal use. In-home daycare 

services, which are determined to be accessory to a principal Household 

Living Use, are not included in this principal use category.  

4. Educational Facilities: An educational institution that satisfies the 

compulsory education laws of the State of Iowa for students in the 

elementary grades, middle school grades, or high school grades, 

respectively; and schools for specialized activities, such as dance, music, 

martial arts, business, and technical skills. Business and technical 

colleges that offer degree programs in campus-like settings are 

excluded from this category and classified as College and University, 

Private. 

(i) Subcategories: 

(a) General Educational Facilities: This definition includes both public 

schools and private, non-boarding schools that have a curriculum 

similar to that in the permitted public schools. 

(b) Specialized Educational Facilities: Schools primarily engaged in 

offering specialized trade, business, or commercial courses, but 

not academic training. Also specialized nondegree-granting 

schools, such as music schools, dramatic schools, dance studios, 

martial arts studios, language schools and civil service and other 

short-term examination preparatory schools.  

79

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  11 

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: Play areas, cafeterias, recreational 

and sport facilities, auditoriums, preschools, and before- or after-

school day care. 

5. Detention Facilities and Community Service: Facilities for the 

judicially required detention or incarceration of people. Inmates and 

detainees are under 24-hour supervision by the Department of 

Corrections, except when on an approved leave. This category also 

includes alternatives to incarceration, such as halfway houses, where 

residents or inmates are placed by and remain under the supervision of 

the courts. 

(i) Examples:  

(a) Prison, jail, probation center, juvenile detention home, halfway 

house for current offenders. 

(b) Work release: Facilities participating in a work release, or similar 

programs from a state institution, and under the supervision of a 

court, state or local agency. 

(ii) Accessory uses: Offices, recreational and health facilities, therapy 

facilities, maintenance facilities, hobby and manufacturing activities. 

6. Government and Public Safety Services: This is a use type for 

locations and structures that provide a place for the regular transaction 

of governmental business. This category does not include utilities or 

industrial-scale public facilities. Examples: Public safety facilities, 

governmental offices, storage areas and yards, fleet storage, and service 

areas. 

7. Health Care Facilities: Larger health care facilities, particularly licensed 

public or private institutions, that provide principal health services, 

medical care, emergency care, and surgical care to persons suffering 

from illness, disease, injury, or other physical or mental conditions. 

Smaller standalone medical and dental clinics and mental health 

counseling offices are classified as Office uses.  

(i) Examples:  

(a) Hospital, hospice center, surgicenter. 

(b) Treatment facility: A health care facility providing either or both 

inpatient or outpatient therapy for substance abuse, mental 

illness, or other behavioral problems.  

80

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  12 

(ii) Accessory uses: laboratories, outpatient, or training facilities, and 

parking, other amenities primarily for the use of facility employees. 

8. Non-Commercial Recreation and Open Space: This use type includes 

uses that focus on natural areas, large areas consisting mostly of 

vegetative landscaping or outdoor recreation, community gardens, or 

public squares. These lands tend to have few structures.  

(i) Examples: Passive and active recreation, parks, playgrounds, 

community gardens, public squares, cemeteries, conservation lands. 

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: Clubhouses, playgrounds, 

maintenance facilities, concessions, caretaker's quarters, and parking 

for cars and RVs as permitted by the City.   

(3) Commercial Uses 

a. General Description: Commercial uses include any retail, consumer service, or 

office use. 

b. Use Categories 

1. Amusement and Recreation: This use type includes a broad array of 

commercial establishments, divided into indoor and outdoor categories, 

which operate or provide services to meet varied artistic, cultural, 

entertainment, and recreational interests of their patrons and the 

community. Restaurants and bars that provide live entertainment in 

addition to the sale of food and beverages, are excluded from this 

classification and categorized as Eating and Drinking Establishments. 

(i) Sub-categories: 

(a) Adult Business: Any amusement or entertainment establishment, 

bookstore, massage establishment, motion picture theater, video 

rental or sales establishment, or other similar use, in which 25% 

of more of its floor area is customarily not open to the public 

generally but only to one or more classes of the public excluding 

any minor by reason of age under Chapter 728, obscenity, Code 

of Iowa, as amended.  

(b) Indoor: movie theaters and live theaters; video arcades; pool 

halls. 

(c) Outdoor: drive-in movie theater; amusement park or theme 

park; fairgrounds; miniature golf establishments; golf driving 

ranges; water slides; and batting cages. 

81

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  13 

2. Animal Sales and Services: This use category groups uses related to 

animal care, sales, and provision of supplies. Some uses, such as 

kennels, runs, and outdoor play spaces may not be permitted as 

principal or accessory outdoor facilities where they are incompatible 

with adjacent uses. 

(i) Subcategories 

(a) Indoor: Pet stores, dog bathing and clipping salons, pet grooming 

shops, pet clinics, animal hospitals 

(b) Outdoor: Boarding (kennels and stables), any animal sales and 

service use that includes outdoor runs and/or play areas.  

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: Indoor and outdoor kennels and 

runs. 

3. Commercial Assembly: Commercial assembly is that category of uses 

that are designed or used primarily for small or large group assembly or 

meeting. As a principal use, commercial assembly is located in a 

permanent structure. Temporary commercial assembly, such as a 

theater in the park event, is regulated separately. Restaurants and bars 

that provide live entertainment in addition to the sale of food and 

beverages, are excluded from this classification and categorized as 

Eating and Drinking Establishments.  

(i) Examples: convention centers, concert halls, banquet facilities, 

stadiums, arenas, skating rinks (ice or roller), wedding venues.  

(ii) Commercial assembly uses are categorized as large or small based 

on the criteria in Section 26-140(a)(3), Classification.  

4. Eating and Drinking Establishment: This is a use category for 

businesses that prepare or serve food or beverages intended for 

immediate consumption on or off the premises.  

(i) Examples: Restaurants and bars.  

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: Production of specialty foods or 

beverages primarily for on-site consumption, such as baking, coffee 

roasting, and craft brewing; food preparation areas, outdoor seating, 

offices, and parking. 

5. Financial Services: Facilities that have as their principal purpose the 

custody, loan, exchange or issue of money, the extension of credit and 

the transmission of funds.  

82

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  14 

(i) Sub-categories:  

(a) Financial institution: Establishments engaged in deposit banking. 

Banks and financial institutions may include, but are not limited 

to, commercial banks, loan or mortgage companies, 

stockbrokers, savings institutions, credit unions, and other 

similar uses.  

(b) Alternative financial services: The use of a site for the provision 

of alternative financial services such as vehicle title loans, check 

cashing, payday advance/payday loan, or money transfer, 

including: check cashing business, payday advance/loan 

business, money transfer business, vehicle title loan business. 

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: drive-in/drive-through facilities, 

automatic teller machines, parking. 

6. Heavy Commercial: This use category includes businesses that have a 

size, functional use, or site difference from other types of commercial 

that makes the use generally incompatible with residential uses, such as 

uses that have large outdoor storage and display areas, such as lumber 

yards and landscape nurseries; or uses that involve frequent interaction 

with freight trucking or activities that produce excessive noise, dust, or 

odor. Commercial uses that involve both manufacturing or production 

and retail sales belong in this category where the work activities or 

storage take place outside or in large indoor facilities. . 

(i) Subcategories: 

(a) Heavy Retail and Commercial Services: Uses that typically include 

large areas of outdoor storage, work areas, or display, such as 

lumber yards, garden and landscaping centers, farm supply and 

implement sales, RV and camper sales. Trailers and commercial 

containers mounted on wheels are not accepted structures for 

outdoor storage unless such trailers and commercial containers 

remain movable and are regularly moved to and from work sites 

as part of the principal use of the property. Storage of wrecked 

or inoperable vehicle(s) is excluded from this category and 

classified as Waste and Salvage.  

(b) Self-Service Storage: Real property designed and used for the 

purpose of renting or leasing individual storage space to tenants 

with access to such spaces for the purpose of storing and 

removing personal property. All storage of goods and materials 

under this definition shall occur within a completely enclosed 

83

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  15 

structure. The leasing of space outdoors for storage shall be 

defined as outdoor storage. 

(ii) Accessory Uses: office, outdoor storage, retail and wholesale sales, 

parking. 

7. Lodging: Uses in this use type provide customers with temporary 

housing for an agreed upon term of less than 30 consecutive days; any 

use where temporary housing is offered to the public for compensation 

and is open to transient guests.   

(i) Examples: Hotels, motels, bed and breakfast inns, short-term rentals, 

and RV parks.  

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: food preparation and service, offices, 

meeting space. 

8. Office: This type includes uses where people are engaged primarily in 

on-site administrative, business, or professional activities. These uses 

are characterized by activities in an office setting that focus on the 

provision of off-site sale of goods or on-site information-based services, 

usually by professionals.  

(i) Examples: Real estate, insurance, medical offices and clinics, urgent 

care facilities, property management, investment, employment, 

travel, advertising, law, architecture, design, engineering, accounting, 

call centers, and similar offices. This category may also include 

laboratory services that are conducted entirely within an office-type 

setting.  

(ii) Accessory uses and structures may include cafeterias, health 

facilities, parking, or other amenities primarily for the use of 

employees in the firm or building. 

9. Parking, Commercial: A use type that distinguishes principal 

commercial parking facilities from accessory parking. 

10. Retail Sales and Services: This is a use type for businesses involved in 

the sale, lease, or rental of new or used products to the general public 

at retail, along with the provision of commercial and personal services. 

Also includes cottage industries, as defined below.   

(i) Subcategories:  

(a) Commercial Services: uses that provide services for consumers 

or businesses, such as copy services, catering, laundromats, dry 

cleaners, tailors, photographic studios; and uses that provide 

84

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  16 

repair and maintenance of consumer goods, such as office 

equipment, appliances, bicycles, shoes, and similar.  

(b) Retail sales: Stores selling or leasing a wide variety of consumer, 

home, and business goods, including convenience food store, 

drug store, grocery store, clothing store, hardware store, general 

merchandise store, furniture store, and stores that sell gifts and 

specialty goods.  

(c) Personal services: Establishments engaged in providing services 

related to personal care and grooming, such as hair salon, 

exercise facilities, spa, tanning salon, tattooing, piercing, and 

body art. Also includes mortuaries and funeral homes.  

(d) Cottage Industry: A firm that manufactures, fabricates, creates, 

or assembles goods for on-site sales to the general public for 

personal or household consumption. The goods may also be sold 

at wholesale to other outlets or firms, but on-site, retail sales is a 

significant component of the operation.  Such uses operate on a 

small scale, in keeping with the surrounding neighborhood, with 

little impact in terms of noise, and no discernible impact in terms 

of vibration, dust, or odor. Examples: artisanal fabrication of craft 

or custom home goods, furniture, or other products; artist 

studios; small-scale food or beverage production (such as a 

microbrewery, bakery, or confectionery). 

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: offices; parking; indoor or outdoor 

storage and display of goods.  

11. Consumer Vehicle and Equipment Sales and Services: This use type 

includes a broad range of uses for the maintenance, sale, or rental of 

motor vehicles and related consumer equipment. This use category is 

intended for the regulation of personal vehicles; Large vehicles and 

heavy equipment are regulated in the Industrial and Construction 

Services use category.  

(i) Subcategories 

(a) Vehicle Sales: Sales, lease, or rental of personal vehicles, 

including automobiles, motorcycles, pick-up trucks, and 

incidental maintenance services and auto parts sales associated 

with such uses.  

(b) Quick Vehicle Servicing: Direct services for motor vehicles where 

the driver generally waits in the car or on-site before and while 

the service is performed. The facility may include a drive-through 

85

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  17 

area where the service is performed. Examples include gas 

stations and car washes. 

(c) Vehicle Repair: Establishments providing repair and servicing of 

passenger vehicles, light and medium trucks and other consumer 

motor vehicles such as motorcycles, boats and recreational 

vehicles. Generally, the customer does not wait at the site while 

the service or repair is being performed. Examples include: 

vehicle repair shops; auto body shops; transmission and muffler 

shops; alignment shops; auto upholstery shops; auto detailing 

services; tire sales and mounting.     

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: Storage, offices, parking.   

(4) Industrial Uses  

a. General Description: This is a use category including uses that produce goods 

from extracted and raw materials or from recyclable or previously prepared 

materials, and also including the design, storage, packaging, shipping and 

distribution, and handling of these products and the materials from which 

they are produced. 

b. Use Categories 

1. Industrial and Construction Services: This use type is characterized 

by companies that are engaged in the repair or servicing of heavy 

machinery, equipment, products, or by-products, or the provision of 

heavy services including construction or contracting. Examples include 

contractor facilities, yards, and pre-assembly yards; welding shops; 

machine shops; towing and vehicle storage; service and repair of 

medium and heavy trucks; exterminators; janitorial and building 

maintenance services; fuel oil distributors; solid fuel yards; laundry, dry-

cleaning, and carpet cleaning plants; may include schools for the 

industrial trades if activities and facilities are similar to other uses in this 

category. Junkyards and auto salvage are not included in this category 

but are categorized as Waste or Salvage. Accessory uses and structures: 

Sales, offices, parking, and storage yards. 

2. Industrial Manufacturing, Assembly, or Processing: Establishments 

involved in the manufacturing, processing, fabrication, packaging, or 

assembly of goods. This category is divided into light and heavy 

manufacturing based on the potential external impacts (noise, smell, 

heat, vibration) of the use and the extent to which outdoor production 

or storage is required. Natural, constructed, raw, secondary, or partially 

86

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  18 

completed materials may be used.  Products may be finished or semi-

finished, and are generally made for the wholesale market, for transfer 

to other plants, or to order for firms or consumers.  Goods are generally 

not displayed or sold on site, but if so, such activity is a subordinate part 

of sales.  Relatively few customers come to the manufacturing site. 

Accessory use and structures include offices, cafeterias, parking, 

employee recreational facilities, warehouses, storage yards, repair 

facilities, truck fleets, and caretaker's quarters.   

3. Natural Resource Extraction: This use type includes removal of 

resources from the ground. Example: mining, oil and gas extraction 

4. Wholesale Sales: This use type includes facilities used for the sale, 

lease, or rent of products primarily intended for industrial, institutional, 

or commercial businesses. These uses often include on-site sales staff 

for order taking, and may include display areas.  Businesses may or may 

not be open to the general public, but sales to the general public are 

limited as a result of the way in which the firm operates. Products may 

be picked up on site or delivered to the customer.   

5. Warehousing and Distribution: Firms involved in the storage or 

movement of goods for themselves or other firms. Goods are generally 

delivered to other firms or the final consumer, except for some will-call 

pickups. There is little on-site sales activity with the customer present. 

Typical uses include storage warehouses, distribution centers, moving 

and storage firms, trucking or cartage operations, truck staging or 

storage areas. Human occupancy is limited to that required to 

transport, arrange, and maintain stored materials. 

(i) Examples: Warehouses for furniture and appliance stores; household 

moving and general freight storage; cold storage plants; major 

wholesale distribution centers; truck and air freight terminals; 

railroad switching yards; bus and railcar storage lots; taxi fleet 

parking and dispatch; fleet parking parcel services; major postal 

sorting and distribution facilities; grain terminals; and the stockpiling 

of sand, gravel, and other aggregate materials. This use does not 

include the storage of goods incidental to a different principal use on 

the same lot, which is considered an accessory use. 

(ii) Accessory uses and structures: offices, parking, outdoor storage. 

6. Waste and Salvage: This is a use category for uses that collect, store, 

process, or sell waste or salvage materials, or collect and process 

87

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  19 

recyclable material, for the purpose of marketing or reusing the 

material in the manufacturing of new, reused, or reconstituted 

products. 

(i) Examples: refuse hauling facility, salvage yard, recycling collection 

and processing facility; sanitary landfills; waste composting facilities; 

waste transfer stations; portable sanitary collection equipment 

storage and pumping; and hazardous waste collection sites.  

(5) Transportation, Utilities, and Communication 

a. General Description: This use group includes providers and uses that provide 

public and quasi-public services to individuals and the community in the 

following categories. 

b. Use Categories 

1. Alternative Energy Production: This is a use category that includes 

energy produced from resources that are regenerative, such as wind 

and solar energy. 

2. Transportation: This is a use category that includes uses involving 

public and private modes of transportation. 

(i) Examples: bus terminal (but not individual bus stops), train terminal, 

airport, heliport, park and ride lot. 

3. Utilities and Public Facilities: This use type includes structures and 

locations for public or private lines and facilities related to the provision, 

distribution, collection, transmission, or disposal of water, storm and 

sanitary sewage, oil, gas, power, information, telecommunication and 

telephone cable, and facilities for the generation of electricity.  Utility 

uses may or may not have regular employees at the site and the 

services may be public or privately provided.  

(i) Example: Utilities, major: Infrastructure services that have substantial 

land use impacts on surrounding areas. Typical uses include, but are 

not limited to, water and wastewater treatment facilities, major water 

storage facilities, railroad infrastructure, and electric generation 

plants. 

(ii) Example: Utilities, minor: Infrastructure services that do not have 

substantial impacts on surrounding areas or are otherwise 

necessarily distributed throughout the community to aid in the 

operation, distribution, collection, conveyance, transmission, storage 

or other necessary aspect of a public or private utility service. Typical 

88

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  20 

uses include electric substations, pump or lift stations, water towers, 

electric or control vaults or cabinets, and other similar equipment or 

structures necessary for the operation of any public or franchised 

private utility or service. 

4. Wireless Communication Facilities: This use type includes structures, 

locations, and equipment for the transmission of voice, data, image, 

video, or other electronic programming.  

(6) Agricultural Uses  

a. General Description: This is a category of uses characterized by active and on-

going agricultural uses, activities, and related uses. An agricultural use, in 

general, means the use of land for the growing and production of field crops, 

livestock, aquatic, and animal products for the production of income.  Other 

agricultural uses might include fruit and vegetable stands, livestock sales, 

wholesale nurseries, and stables. Lands in agricultural uses and districts may 

also be held for preservation and conservation purposes. The sale or service 

of agricultural products and equipment included in similar commercial use 

categories.  

b. Use Categories 

1. Agricultural Cultivation: Uses in this category are characterized by the 

cultivation of plants for consumption or commercial sale.  Products may 

include, but are not limited to, vegetables, grains, fruits, plants, sod, 

trees, and other similar products. 

(i) Sub-categories 

(a) General Crop Farms: examples include truck farming; grain 

farming; tree farms; fruit, nut, and berry farms; and wineries. 

(b) Community gardens: A parcel of land where members of the 

community have access to individual garden plots for the 

cultivation of fruits, flowers, vegetables, or ornamental plants. 

(c) Plant Nursery: A parcel of land used to raise plants, shrubs, trees, 

and other horticultural and floricultural products, conducted 

within or without an enclosed building.  

(ii) Accessory Uses and Structures: farm dwelling; greenhouse, retail 

sales, office, parking; indoor and outdoor storage, machine shed and 

other farm outbuildings 

2. Animal Agriculture: Uses in this category are characterized by the 

commercial breeding, raising, and/or keeping of fish, livestock, and/or 

89

Item 4.



CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN CHARACTER DISTRICTS P&Z RECOMMENDED DRAFT 

Use Category Descriptions and Definitions  21 

any type of fowl for sale or use of the animal, their products, or 

byproducts. Accessory uses and structures: Farm dwelling, offices, 

indoor and outdoor storage, machine sheds and other farm 

outbuildings; feedlots; pasture. 

3. Agricultural Infrastructure Facilities: Uses in this category support 

agricultural production, including: including grain elevators, commercial 

feed outlets, farm supply stores, truck and animal weigh stations, and 

agricultural chemical or fuel bulk and storage facilities.

 

  

90

Item 4.



91

Item 4.



92

Item 4.



93

Item 4.



94

Item 4.



95

Item 4.



96

Item 4.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: May 7, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning of Downtown Character District (RZ21-004) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from M-1, C-3, C-2, C-1, R4, R3, R-2, and A-1 to Downtown 
Character District (CD-DT) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
 

LOCATION: 
 

Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan study area 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to rezone all property located within the study area delineated in the adopted 
Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan to the new zoning designation, Downtown Character District 
(CD-DT), which will then be governed by the associated Regulating Plan. The Downtown 
Character District Regulating Plan will then become the new zoning map for this area.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan was adopted in November, 2019 as an integral part of the 
City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan. Following adoption of the plan, consultants from 
Ferrell Madden and Community ReCode worked with City staff to draft a zoning ordinance as a 
primary tool for implementing the goals of the plan.  
 
A public review draft of a new zoning code and zoning map for the Downtown Character District 
were presented during a special virtual Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission meeting 
on February 17, 2021. Since that time, the proposed code and regulating plan map have been 
available for public review and comment on the project webpage: www.ourcedarfalls.com. Over 
the last two months, consultants and staff have met virtually with the Planning and Zoning 
Commission at four special work sessions to discuss the various elements of the proposed code 
and regulating plan and answer questions from the Commission. Staff also provided 
opportunities for work session discussions with development professionals and with Community 
Main Street, and encouraged the public to view and submit questions or comments to the 
Planning Division. All property owners in the area were notified by mail of the public hearing 

97

Item 5.

http://www.ourcedarfalls.com/


2 

 

date and provided within instructions on how to participate in the hearing. Notice was also 
published in the Courier for both the proposed new zoning code for Downtown and for the 
rezoning of property to the new designation of Downtown Character District (CD-DT), noting that 
the Downtown Character District Regulating Plan (attached) will be the new zoning map for the 
area.   
  
ANALYSIS 
 
CURRENT ZONING 
The downtown study area is comprised of a mix of zoning districts, a portion of which is subject 
to the Central Business District Overlay. The downtown core is zoned C3, the highest density 
commercial zoning district. There are several areas along the river and along edges of the 
study area zoned Industrial (M-1 and M-2), some of which still have manufacturing uses 
(Viking Pump), but many that are now devoted to other uses, or are ripe for redevelopment. 
The 1st Street corridor within the study area is largely zone C-2. The C-2 Zone allows a wide 
variety of commercial uses, but being an older zoning district has few development standards. 
The C-1 Zoning District is located between the C-3 District and the residential districts to the 
west and south. The area is still largely residential in character with many existing single family 
homes and houses that have been converted to duplexes, multi-family, or offices. There has 
been a small amount of commercial infill in these areas. The other areas of the Downtown 
Character District are zoned R-3 and R-4 with just one block of R-2 north of Lincoln 
Elementary School.  These zones are also older zoning districts that allow a variety of 
residential uses and in the case of the R-4 District also allows some office and lower intensity 
commercial uses. Similar to the older commercial districts, these zones do not have many 
development standards, so some infill has occurred that is not in keeping with the original 
residential character of these areas. While the Central Business District Overlay establishes 
some design standards and a process for review of new development through the Planning 
and Zoning Commission and City Council, the rest of the study area has few standards to 
prevent out-of-character redevelopment and there is no review oversight by P&Z and Council.   
 
PROPOSED ZONING 
The Downtown Character District is established to implement the adopted Imagine Downtown! 
Vision Plan. It focuses on community character, through an emphasis on development 
character, intensity, and physical form and patterns, rather than solely on land uses. The 
emphasis is on the relationship between private development and public spaces (streets, 
parks, and open space) to promote an overall sense of place within the downtown area, while 
allowing a wide variety of land uses. The goal is to create walkable urban neighborhoods in 
close proximity to the downtown mixed-use center. The regulations establish requirements 
related to form, character and design that complement the established pattern of compact, 
well-connected blocks in the downtown core neighborhoods.  
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan was adopted in November 2019 as an integral part of the 
Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan. Therefore, it supercedes the designations on the Future 
Land Use Map. Rezoning properties within the Downtown Vision Plan boundaries to 
Downtown Character District is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. Staff also 
recommends updating the Future Land Use Map to recognize the vision plan boundaries.  
 
 

98

Item 5.



3 

 

ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
The study area is located within in a developed area of the city with access to all utilities and 
public services. 
 
ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 
The Downtown Character District is located in an area with short, well-connected blocks. The 
gridded street pattern with centrally spaced alleys lends itself well to a form-based zoning 
district, which encourages buildings that frame the streets to create walkable urban 
neighborhoods with a mixed-use urban center.  
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
Notice of the rezoning proposal was mailed to all property owners and public hearing notice was 
also published in Waterloo Cedar Falls Courier on April 21, 2021.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of RZ21-004, a request to 
rezone all property located within the Imagine Downtown! Vision Plan study area boundary, as 
shown on the attached map, from current zoning designations to CD-DT - Downtown 
Character District and to update the Future Land Use Map to reflect the adopted Imagine 
Downtown! Vision Plan.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
 
4/28/2021 
Public 
hearing  

The next item for consideration by the Commission was rezoning of property 
in the proposed Downtown Character District. Chair Leeper introduced the 
matter and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained that 
mailed notice of the rezoning was sent out to all property owners in the 
rezoning area and notice of the public hearing was also published in the 
Courier. The item is for initial discussion at this time and will be continued to 
the next meeting.  

 
     The matter will be continued at the next meeting. 

 
Public 
hearing 
Continued  
5/12/2021 
Discussion 
& Vote 

 

 

 
Attachments: Location Map 
  Downtown Regulating Plan 

   

99

Item 5.



Ceda r
River

Dr
y

Run
Creek

Sn
ag

Cre
ek

Dry

Run
Cr

ee
k

(Univ)

Big
Wo

ods
Cree

k

Washington
Park

Tourist Park
Island
Park

Sturgis
Park

Gateway Park

Pfeiffer
Springs

Park

Tondro Pray
BMX ParkM-1

C-2

R-2

R-3

R-3

M-1

R-4

R-3
C-1

C-3

R-4

R-3

R-3
R-4

R-2

M-1

C-2C-2

R-1

C-3
C-2

R-4

R-1

R-3

M-2

A-1

A-1

M-1

C-2

M-1

Ad
am

sS
t

N 
Co

lle
ge

 S
t

Blu
ff S

t

Grant St

Utility Pkwy

Grand Blvd

E 17th St

E 14th Ct

Horty St

E 12th St

Higby Dr

E 13th St

E 7th St

E 9th St

Mc
Kin

ley
 St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

E 14th St

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Fra
nk

lin
 S

t

Ida St

Cla
yS

t

Sta
te 

St

Co
tta

ge
 Ln

Grove St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Co llege St

Iow
a S

t

E 15th St

E 3rd St

W 4th St

E 5th St

W 6th St

E 10th St

A S
t

B S
t

Gr
ee

ley
 S

t

E 11th St

W 17th St

W 15th St

W 8th St

W 16th St

Bir
ch

St

W 7th St

E 6th St

W 14th St

E 8th St

W 9th St

W 10th St

E 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 13th St

W 2nd St

E 16th St

W 5th St

W 11th St

E 4th St

Ol
ive

 S
t

Irv
ing

 S
t

Ea
st

St

Logan S t

Sc
hre

ibe
r S

t

Sc
og

gin
 S

t

Beech Ave

E Main St

E 18th St

Lincoln St

Waterloo Rd

W 18th St

Co
lle

ge
 S

t

Ma
in 

St

Fra
nk

lin
 St

W 6th St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Center St

E 1st St ®¬57

®¬27

®¬58
µ184.5

µ43

I

100

Item 5.



W 8th St

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 7th St

W 6th St

W 5th St

W 4th St

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

Cl
ay

 S
t

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Io
w

a 
St

W
al

nu
t S

t

Bl
uf

f S
t

Gr
ov

e 
St

O
liv

e 
St

W 18th St

W 19th St

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

24.7

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

W 1st St

W 11th St

W 12th St

W 13th St

W 14th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

Cl
ay

 S
t

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t

Tr
em

on
t S

t

W
al

nu
t S

t

O
liv

e 
St

Io
w

a 
St

Railway

Public
Open Space

Civic Structure

Parking Setback

*1. see the Urban General BFS, 193.2.F.4.b, for more information. 

Storefront

Req'd Building

UNDERSTANDING THE REGULATING PLAN

Color and Symbol Key

Neighborhood
Study Area Bounds
Downtown Character

Line (RBL)

W 17th St

A Comfortable 5 Minute Walk

1
3

0
0

 F
e
e
t

1300 FT1200800600 1000200 400100300

St
at

e 
St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

Bl
uf

f S
t

Planning and Zoning Commission

G2-4st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

G2- 5st, 120 lf

Streets
New 

W
al

nu
t S

t

Parkway Lane 

*3 Required street connection
between Walnut Street and either
College Street or Ida Street. The
e[act route is to be determined
through platting.
Consult the Zoning Administrator.

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 18th St

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

Neighborhood

Medium

Small

G
2-

no
 re

ta
il

Cl
ay

 S
t

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

N
 M

ed
iu

m
: 4

st

Higby Drive

Urban
General

Urban
General 2

*1
St

or
ef

ro
nt

 3

*2. see the Neighborhood Medium BFS, 193.4.F.3.b or the Neighborhood Small BFS, 193.4.E.3.b, for more information. 

*1

*1

*2

*2

*1

May 2021 Ferrell Madden

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

*1
*2

*2 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2

*2

*2

*2

*2
*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*1 *1

*2

*1

*1*1
*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2 *2

*2 *2
*1

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2

*2

*2

*2*2

*1

*1

*2

*2*2

*2 *2 *2

*2*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*2

*1

*2
*1

*2

*1 *1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*1

*2

*1

*1

Tr
em

on
t S

t

Ida St

*3. Consult with the Zoning Administrator for more information. 

N
 C

ol
le

ge
 S

t

*2

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l, 
10

' R
BL

G
2.

 1
5'

 R
BL

G
2.

 n
oR

et
ai

l

Recommended Draft

101

Item 5.

AutoCAD SHX Text
otherwise noted on the Regulating Plan. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Refer to the City for details. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Urban Public Space per the Code

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civic Green or Square

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(see below)

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUIRED BUILDING LINE (RBL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING FRONTAGE DESIGNATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Vehicle Parking (above ground)

AutoCAD SHX Text
is not allowed forward of this line unless

AutoCAD SHX Text
shall be BUILT-TO the RBL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
This indicates the relevant

AutoCAD SHX Text
Building Form Standard (BFS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
for your site.  The Building

AutoCAD SHX Text
This line indicates the RBL

AutoCAD SHX Text
rules governing your site. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPECIAL CONDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Specific limitation or allowance 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Consult the City for Site Specific Regulations

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawing for Coding Purposes Only, Dimensions are subject to change

AutoCAD SHX Text
*3


	Top
	Item 1.	P&Z minutes from 4.28.21
	04-28-2021 P and Z Minutes

	Item 2.	R-P Masterplan Amendment for Autumn Ridge Addition
	1. PZ Staff Report for Autumn Ridge Masterplan Amendment
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3 - Master Plan 2021-04-09_10th Addition
	4. Master Plan 2001
	5. Lot 3 RP Plan as per originally approved Master plan in 2001
	6. Lot 3 RP Plan Amendment 2005

	Item 3.	Preliminary and Final Plat for Autumn Ridge 10th Addition
	1. P&amp;Z Staff Report for Autumn Ridge 10th Addition 11-5-20
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. 5684 Preliminary Plat 2020-11-11
	4. 5684 Final Plat Overall - Signed
	5_deed of dedication_Signed

	Item 4.	Zoning Code Text Amendments - Downtown Character District Regulations
	1- Memo.PZ. Downtown Zoning Code.5.12.21
	2 - decision.matrix FM 4.6.21
	3- 05.07.21 CedarFalls Downtown PZ Draft-Model
	4- CF 193-BFS p.42
	5- CF 194 Arch p.49
	6- CF 196 Parking p.79
	7 - CF 197-Functions p.81-82
	8 - CF 197-Functions p.83
	9 - CF 197-Functions p.85
	10 - CF Admin Procedures PZ Recommended Draft 051221
	11 - CF Use Descriptions and Definitions.PZ recommended draft.5.7.21-red-lined
	12 - public correspondence.5.12.21

	Item 5.	Rezoning RZ21-004 - Downtown Character District Rezoning
	1. PZ Staff Report - Downtown Character District Rezoning - 5.12.21
	2. DtownStudyArea.existing zoning
	3. 05.07.21 CedarFalls Downtown PZ Draft-Model

	Bottom

